May 1981

Bulletin Number 33



College of Forestry, Wildlife and Range Sciences

THE SAGEBRUSH-GRASS REGION: A REVIEW OF THE ECOLOGICAL LITERATURE



by E.W. Tisdale M. Hironaka

SD 12 12 12 U47 no.33

WILDLIFE AND RANGE EXPERIMENT STATION

John H. Ehrenreich

Associate Director Charles R. Hatch





THE SAGEBRUSH-GRASS REGION: A REVIEW OF THE ECOLOGICAL LITERATURE

E.W. Tisdale and M. Hironaka

Published by the Forest, Wildlife and Range Experiment Station, University of Idaho, as Contribution No. 209.

1981

UNIVERSITY OF IDAHO LIBRARY



TABLE OF CONTENTS

The Sagebrush-Grass Region: A Review of the Ecological Literature

INTRODUCTION
AUTECOLOGY OF MAJOR SPECIES
Artemisia tridentata (Big sagebrush)
Artemisia arbuscula (Low sagebrush)
Artemisia nova (Black sagebrush)
Artemisia bigelovii (Bigelow sagebrush)
Artemisia tripartita (Three-tip sagebrush)
Artemisia cana (Silver sagebrush)
Artemisia longiloba (Early low sagebrush)
Artemisia rigida (Stiff sagebrush)
Artemisia rothrockii (Rothrock sagebrush)
Chrvsothamnus (Rabbitbrush)
Purshia (Bitterbrush)
Amelanchier (Serviceberry)
Cercocarpus ledifolius (Curlleaf mountain-mahogany)
Prunus (Wild cherry)
Symphoricarpos (Snowberry)
Agropvron spicatum (Bluebunch wheatgrass)
Festuca idahoensis (Idaho fescue).
Poa sandbergii (Sandberg bluegrass)
Stipa (Needlegrass)
Sitanion hystrix (Squirreltail) 14
Bromus tectorum (Cheatgrass, Downy brome)
COMMUNITY CHARACTERISTICS
Extent and Stability
Diversity in the Sagebrush-Grass Region
Classification
Effects of Disturbance
Cultivation
Fire
<i>Grazing</i>
Herbicides
REFERENCES CITED

FOREWORD

This publication is the result of a long-standing interest in the sagebrush-grass vegetation of North America. From 1948 to 1980 we have witnessed and participated in greatly increased research on the major vegetation region.

The lack of any comprehensive review of the accumulated ecological information led us to undertake this task, which proved to be larger than was first contemplated. We have tried to include all the more relevant publications, and can only apologize for those which are omitted. A major fact which emerged during our search was that a large amount of unpublished material in theses, project reports, etc., largely remains unavailable. It also became apparent that relatively more research has been done on the northern portion of the sagebrush region than on the southern part.

We would like to acknowledge our indebtedness to co-workers who have shared in the study of sagebrush vegetation over the past 3 decades and with whom we have shared observations and ideas. These include university researchers and scientists from federal, state, and private agencies. We hope they will approve of our present effort.

The Sagebrush - Grass Region: A Review of the Ecological Literature

E.W. Tisdale and M. Hironaka

INTRODUCTION

The objective of this paper is to provide a comprehensive review of literature on the vegetation of the sagebrush region of North America. Despite its prime importance as a grazing resource, and the problems produced by its use and misuse, research on this large and varied ecosystem was quite limited during the first half of this century. Increased activity began in the 1950s and has expanded greatly during the last two decades, stimulated by federally supported regional projects, the International Biological Program, and establishment of the U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Shrub Sciences Laboratory at Provo, Utah. The result has been an impressive increase in the technical literature, appearing in a wide variety of media. Much additional material of value exists in unpublished theses and reports. Although bibliographies for particular topics have been compiled, no comprehensive attempt has been made so far to cover the whole range of research and publication dealing with the sagebrush-grass vegetation.

The present review developed from a continuing involvement with the ecology of sagebrush vegetation in Idaho, including participation in two U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) regional projects (W-25 and W-89), and subsequent research on classification of sagebrush vegetation for the USDA Forest Service.

Since the objective is to document the current status of knowledge of sagebrush vegetation, emphasis has been

ISSN:0073-4586

placed on thorough coverage of recent contributions. Inclusion of older work has been made more selective, particularly where the results are included in subsequent publications.

The overall emphasis is on the characteristics of sagebrush-grass vegetation and its major component species. Manipulation and replacement receive less attention. This subject area was intensively reviewed in the Sagebrush Ecosystem Symposium, held at Utah State University, Logan, in 1979.

Although the total vascular flora of sagebrush-grass vegetation is extensive, a relatively small number of species comprise the bulk of the biomass (Tisdale et al. 1969). Of the shrubs which give this vegetation its distinctive physiognomy the most abundant are woody species of sagebrush (*Artemisia*). Other common shrubs include rabbitbrush (*Chrysothamnus*) and bitterbrush (*Purshia*). Shrubs which occur less commonly in the sagebrush-grass region, but which dominate closely related communities include serviceberry (*Amelanchier*), mountain-mahogany (*Cercocarpus*), wild cherry (*Prunus*) and snowberry (*Symphoricarpos*).

The principal herbaceous species are grasses, especially wheatgrass (Agropyron), fescue (Festuca), bluegrass (Poa), needlegrass (Stipa), bromegrass (Bromus), and squirreltail (Sitanion). Forbs are less abundant, but species of phlox (Phlox), milk-vetch (Astragalus), and fleabane (Erigeron) are widespread and often abundant, especially in the moister parts of the region.

The woody section of *Artemisia*, the Tridentatae, has been studied and revised by several workers, including Hall and Clements (1923), Ward (1953), Beetle (1959, 1960), Beetle and Young (1965), and Winward (1970). The

The authors are Professor Emeritus and Professor of Range Resources, respectively, for the College of Forestry, Wildlife and Range Sciences at the University of Idaho, Moscow.

Financial support for this publication has been provided by the U.S.D.A. Forest Service.

treatment followed in this paper is essentially that of Beetle (1960), but with modifications in the A. tridentata group. Nine species and several subspecies and other subdivisions of woody Artemisia are recognized in the region described. The species, in approximate order of area occupied are: big sagebrush (A. tridentata), silver sagebrush (A. cana), low sagebrush (A. arbuscula), black sagebrush (A. nova), Bigelow sagebrush (A. bigelovii), threetip sagebrush (A. tripartita), stiff sagebrush (A. rigida), early low sagebrush (A. longiloba), and Rothrock sagebrush (A. rothrockii). Although the genus Artemisia has its origin in Asia. the section Tridentatae, distinguished by woody stems and a lack of ray florets, appears to have evolved in North America, and to differ from the woody Artemisias of the Old World (Stebbins 1971, McArthur and Plummer 1978, Kelsey and Shafizadeh 1979). This North American section has evolved species and lesser taxa to fit a wide variety of habitats in the area now occupied by its members. Other woody sages, including California sage (A. californicum) in coastal California and sand sage (A. filifolia) on sandy soil of the Southern Great Plains, do not belong in the section Tridentatae, and are not covered in this review.

AUTECOLOGY OF MAJOR SPECIES

Current knowledge of the ecology of individual species of the sagebrush region is still inadequate, although much has been accomplished during the past three decades. The available information is usually scattered over a number of studies, each limited to certain phases of the plant's ecology, often done with different methods and with populations of different character. A common weakness has been failure to identify the source and nature of the populations studied (Tisdale 1962). The importance of the "provenance" approach has been well demonstrated in research on forest tree species (Callahan 1963).

The attempt here is to assemble and evaluate pertinent data concerning major species of the sagebrush region. The material is presented under the headings of taxonomy, intraspecific variation, growth development, habitat relationships (physical and biotic) and physiological factors.

Artemisia tridentata (Big sagebrush)

Within the sagebrush group, most attention has been given to this species, doubtless because of its great abundance and wide distribution. Adjustment to environment has produced sufficient differences to warrant the recognition of subspecific units. These include three subspecies: tridentata, vaseyana, and wyomingensis, and one form vaseyana spiciformis. Another entity, known only as "big sagebrush X" has also been recently described (Winward and Tisdale 1977).

These subdivisions of *A. tridentata* are separable by morphological, phenological, cytological, and chemical characteristics, and their recognition is indispensable for

classifying big sagebrush vegetation (Kelsev et al. 1976. Winward and Tisdale 1977, and Winward 1980), and as indicator plants in other communities (West et al. 1978). Basin big sagebrush (A. tridentata tridentata) occurs in areas of dry climate but on relatively deep, well drained soils. Wyoming big sagebrush (A. tridentata wyomingensis) occurs in warmer and often drier sites on shallower, sometimes slightly saline soils. Mountain big sagebrush (A. tridentata vasevana) grows in areas of more moisture and lower temperatures. Subalpine big sagebrush, form spiciformis of A. vaseyana, is limited to mesic sites at high altitudes. The "X big sagebrush" shares characteristics with subspecies tridentata and vasevana. It appears to be restricted to areas of intermediate elevation where the climate is moister than in sites occupied by subspecies wyomingensis but warmer than the higher elevations where A. vaseyana occurs (Winward and Tisdale 1977). Since external differences among these taxa are not great, and some intergrading occurs, use of all possible criteria for identification is advisable. Chemical tests, using thin layer chromatography have been used to detect the presence of diagnostic fluorescent compounds (Holbo and Mozingo 1965, Winward 1970, Hanks and Jorgensen 1973, Hanks et al. 1973, Kelsey et al. 1976). Simple fluorescence tests have also been devised for use under field conditions (Winward and Tisdale 1969, Stevens and McArthur 1974),

Genecological variation also occurs. This type of variation involves the development of local populations or races within a species which differ genetically and physiologically but do not show sufficient morphological differences to be recognized taxonomically. Since its first recognition by Turesson (1922) this kind of variation has been found to be common in species of wide distribution. Detection of these differences requires special techniques including growing populations from different sources in a common environment, and this has been done for few species of the sagebrush region. Knowledge of this type of variation is significant for the understanding and management of range vegetation (Tisdale 1962).

In the case of *A. tridentata*, Marchand et al. (1966) found differences in survival rate and phenology among populations of both *A. tridentata tridentata* and *A. tridentata vaseyana* grown in experimental gardens. Hanks and coworkers (1971, 1973) used paper chromatography to separate populations within each of the three subspecies of *A. tridentata*. These populations varied in habitat and in palatability to grazing animals. Further studies are likely to reveal more genecological variation in big sagebrush (Plummer 1971, McArthur and Plummer 1978).

The most complete account of the developmental history of *A. tridentata* is that presented by Daubenmire (1975a), which includes studies by Goodwin (1956) and Price (1965), all in eastern Washington. Other sources of data include Robertson (1943), Mueggler (1956), Payne (1957), Beetle (1960), Marchand et al. (1966), Schlatterer

and Tisdale (1969), Winward (1970), McDonough and Harniss (1974a, 1974b), Harniss and McDonough (1975, 1976). McArthur and Welch (1978), Caldwell (1979), McArthur et al. (1979).

The following treatment applies to A. tridentata as a species, with exceptions due to subspecific differences where these have been documented. The species is a prolific seed producer and 300,000 or more achenes may be produced annually on one mature plant. Flowering usually occurs during September and seed ripens by late October or early November. These stages occur 2 to 5 weeks earlier in the higher elevation forms, subspecies *vaseyana* and A. tridentata "X." Seed is shed during late fall and winter. Dissemination is by wind, water and animals, with most seed remaining fairly close to the parent plant. Germination occurs in late winter and early spring.

Under laboratory conditions seed germinates under a wide range of temperatures, and germination is favored by light. Seed of subspecies tridentata and wyomingensis germinates at rates of 60 percent or more without stratification. Germination of subspecies vasevana is low (15 percent approximately) under these conditions, but increases to 80 or 90 percent following 30 to 60 days of stratification (McDonough and Harniss 1974a). Most seed germinates in the spring following its formation, but some can lie dormant in the soil for periods up to 4 years. It appears that the revegetation of large areas from which A. tridentata has been removed by fire or other means is accomplished largely by seed remaining in the soil (Mueggler 1956, Bartolome and Heady 1978). Seedlings may appear in vast numbers (600 per sq ft) in years of favorable moisture conditions, but mortality is usually heavy by the end of the first season. Young sagebrush plants grow slowly where competition from other vegetation is severe, but respond well to lessened competition, as on areas recently disturbed by insects or fire. Plants usually begin reproduction at an age of 3 to 4 years but may start at 2 years under highly favorable conditions.

Growth begins in early spring, and is largely completed by late July. Winward (1970) found significant differences in the soil moisture regime of the three subspecies of *A. tridentata* in southern Idaho. Moisture became deficient by mid-July on sites dominated by subspecies *wyomingensis*, by late July or early August for subspecies *tridentata*, and by September on *A. vaseyana* sites. Despite the seasonal pattern of moisture stress, many plants of the *A. tridentata* complex flower and produce seed in normal years.

Artemisia tridentata is evergreen as a result of the production of two series of leaves each year. The first series is produced from buds which have over-wintered. These "ephemeral" leaves are usually larger than those of the second, "persistent" series which develop later in the season and remain on the plant over winter.

Big sagebrush exhibits a characteristic growth form with a single, multi-branched main stem. The subspecies differ in stem diameter, crown form and height of mature Subspecies tridentata and wyomingensis have plants irregular crowns and relatively thick trunks, while subspecies vaseyana and its form spiciformis have more slender trunks and flat-topped crowns. Height of mature plants varies with site conditions, but subspecies tridentata commonly grows to 120 to 180 cm (4-6 ft) and occasional plants may reach 240 cm (8 ft) or more. Subspecies wyomingensis is shorter, usually reaching 45 to 100 cm (1840 inch). Artemisia tridentata is long-lived and forms well defined rings which enable both age and fluctuations in growth to be determined (Ferguson 1964). Ages of 40 to 50 years are common, with some plants exceeding 100 years. Slowgrowing individuals on unfavorable sites attain the greatest age.

Root systems of all three subspecies of *A. tridentata* have been studied, although the number of such investigations has been limited (Goodwin 1956, Tabler 1964, Winward 1970, Hull and Klomp 1974, Fernandez and Caldwell 1975, Daubenmire 1975a, Sturges 1977, Sturges and Trlica 1978). Caldwell (1979) has summarized much of the available data. Essentially there is a basic root pattern for the species, with significant variation due to differences among subspecies and sites. The basic plan is a tap root extending from 1 to 2 m, with a lateral spread up to 1.5 m. There is a marked concentration of fine roots in the upper 20 to 30 cm of soil, but a considerable development at greater depths also.

A comparison of subsp. *vaseyana* growing on the bottom and midslope of a ridge and subsp. *wyomingensis* on the ridge top showed a greater depth of root penetration for the former, but lateral spread was the same for both subspecies. Root depth was definitely related to depth of water recharge. In total, the root system of the *A. tridentata* complex is well adapted to extract moisture and nutrients from both shallow and deeper portions of the soil profile, and must be considered as highly competitive with the principal grasses and forbs of the sagebrush region.

Big sagebrush is highly susceptible to fire and no resprouting occurs (Blaisdell 1953). As a result, large amounts of *A. tridentata* are killed periodically by wild-fires, and planned burning has been used as a tool for sagebrush control (Pechanec et al. 1965).

The species is also affected by several dipterous insects, many of which cause formation of galls on the plant (Fronk et al. 1964, Jones 1971). These reduce plant vigor when abundant, but do not usually cause death. Other leaf chewing insects are more harmful. Most common is *Aroga websteri*, a moth, whose larvae feed exclusively on foliage of *A. tridentata* and related species: *A. arbuscula*, *A. nova* and *A. cana* (Henry 1961). Periodically, populations of *A. websteri* increase to a point where

significant damage is done, with mortality ranging up to 80 or 90 percent of sagebrush stands in severe cases. Large outbreaks occurred in southeastern Oregon and southwestern Idaho in 1962-1963 (Gates 1964). The insect populations become heavily parasitized during peak periods, however, and usually decline abruptly after 1 or 2 years at peak level (Fillmore 1965). The sagebrush then gradually repopulates the affected area.

Another insect, *Trirhabda pilosa* (Blake 1931), appears to have a high potential for destroying big sagebrush, but recorded outbreaks are rare. Pringle (1960) found severe damage to *A. tridentata* in southern British Columbia in 1956-1958, but the insect population declined soon after and has not reappeared in significant numbers. Fisser and Lavigne (1961) reported a severe infestation of *Trirhabda attenuata* on *A. tripartita* subsp. *rupicola* in Wyoming.

Mueggler (1967) reported extensive damage by voles (*Microtus* spp.) to *A. tridentata* in western Montana during the winter of 1963-1964. The mode of damage was by stripping bark, and mortality of plants ranged from 10 to 84 percent. Similar increases of voles have occurred in other parts of the sagebrush region. Frischknecht and Baker (1972) have suggested that voles could be utilized for improvement of certain sagebrush ranges.

Grasshoppers, common insects of the sagebrush region, usually prefer the associated herbaceous species, but under certain conditions may damage stands of sagebrush. Allred (1941) reported severe damage (over 50% mortality) to *A. tridentata* in the Powder River drainage of Wyoming and Montana in 1936 due to concurrence of a peak population of grasshoppers and drought conditions. Comparable damage to *A. tridentata wyomingensis* was observed by the present authors on a 1000-acre area near King Hill, southern Idaho in 1965.

The biotic agents discussed are native to the sagebrush region, and presumably have co-existed with *A*. *tridentata* and allied species for a long time. Although considerable mortality of big sagebrush occurs periodically due to one or more of these agents, this does not prevent the species from maintaining itself within the area of suitable climate and soils. This also applies to the effects of natural fires. Only persistent use of fire, herbicides or mechanical methods will permanently reduce the population of sagebrush.

Big sagebrush is also sensitive to herbicides, including 2,4-D; 2,4,5-T; and picloram, when applied during the period of active growth (Pechanec et al. 1965, Tueller and Evans 1969, Evans et al. 1970b, Evans and Young 1977b). This method has been widely used in management of sagebrush-grass ranges, but can have detrimental effects on sagegrouse (Klebenow 1970) and other wildlife species.

Most investigations of the physiology of big sagebrush have been made during the past decade, although the effects of defoliation were studied earlier. An excellent summary of existing knowledge was provided by Caldwell (1979). This species shows a marked capacity for photosynthesis at low temperatures, but assimilation is greatly reduced by leaf temperatures above 30° C and also by moisture stress (Dina and Klikoff 1973, Depuit and Caldwell 1973, 1975, Pearson 1975). The species shows a considerable photosynthetic acclimatization potential, greater than that of the less widely distributed species, A. arbuscula and A. nova (West and Mooney 1972). The ability of A. tridentata to carry on photosynthesis at a high rate at low temperatures makes it well suited to its environment, where the low temperatures of spring coincide with abundant soil moisture. In addition, the plants are capable of rapidly resuming a high rate of photosynthesis later in the season, whenever moisture and temperature conditions become favorable (Pearson 1975).

Big sagebrush also has the capacity to extract water from dry soils when soil water potentials are as low as -70 bars (Campbell and Harris 1977). The root system becomes active early in spring and may begin growth as much as a month before aerial growth (Fernandez and Caldwell 1975).

Caldwell (1979) summed up the physiological factors for success of *A. tridentata* as including capacity for photosynthesis at low temperatures, capacity for temperature acclimatization, maintenance of large leaf area throughout the year, sensitive stomatal control of water loss, capacity of the root system to remove water from dry soils and possible presence of secondary compounds which may deter predators and plant competitors.

The effects of clipping have been investigated by several workers. Cook and Stoddart (1960) found that *A. tridentata* can tolerate about 60 percent use during winter, but allowable use during late spring was only 35 percent. Pearson (1965) found severe damage from one season of 100-percent use. Wright (1970) found that an 80-percent use rate was most harmful in midsummer (July) when carbohydrate reserves were lowest, and least harmful during the late summer, fall and winter months. Cook and Child (1971) and Trlica and Cook (1971) found that *A. tridentata* and *A. nova* both recovered slowly from severe defoliation, and that carbohydrate reserves were directly related to previous defoliation.

Artemisia arbuscula (Low sagebrush)

This species is second in abundance only to A. tridentata in the northern intermountain area. It is characterized by a compact crown and low stature (30-50 cm). It is distinguished from A. tridentata by its smaller size, shorter leaves, and narrow paniculate inflorescence. Two subspecies are recognized: subsp. arbuscula with coarse, cuneate leaves; and subsp. thermopola with fine, deeply trifid leaves (Beetle 1960). Subspecies thermopola is confined to areas of gravelly, immature soils close to the forest boundary in western Wyoming and eastern Idaho. Subspecies arbuscula is the dominant shrub over large areas at medium to high elevation which are similar climatically to those occupied by A. tridentata, especially subsp. tridentata and vaseyana. The difference in habitat is edaphic, for both subspecies of arbuscula occupy soils which are either less than 33 cm to an impermeable "B" horizon bedrock, or if deeper, have 30 percent or more gravel and cobbles in the horizon (Fosberg 1964, Fosberg and Hironaka 1964). This edaphic restriction of A. arbuscula has been confirmed by a number of investigators in various parts of the sagebrush region (Tueller 1962, Hall 1967, Summerfield 1969, Zamora and Tueller 1973, Sabrinski and Knight 1978). The shallow soils result from periglacial erosion and tend to be waterlogged in the spring. Both this type and the deeper, gravelly soils are low in moisture retaining capacity and become very dry by mid-summer. This appears to be the main factor which prevents A. tridentata from growing on these soils, although the effects of poor aeration in the spring period may also be a factor, since A. tridentata roots are known to have high oxygen requirements (Lunt et al. 1973). Sites with alternating areas of shallow or gravelly and deeper, finer soils commonly support a mosaic of A. arbuscula and A. tridentata, each confined to its preferred soil. In total, the area in which A. arbuscula occurs on shallow soils with an impermeable layer far exceeds its occurrence on deeper, gravelly soils. The latter condition is reported on soils derived from glacial outwash in western Wyoming (Sabrinski and Knight 1978), but is not widespread in the sagebrush region. This distribution, in relation to soils, plus the similarity to sites occupied by A. longiloba does not support Beetle's (1979) idea that A. arbuscula arbuscula developed as a type adapted to glacial till soils.

Apart from its edaphic relationships, little has been published on *A. arbuscula*. The phenology appears similar to that of *A. tridentata*, with new growth noticeable in May, flowering in September and seed ripening in late October and November (Beetle 1960 and authors' personal observations). The species is a nonsprouter and is susceptible to fire and defoliating insects, especially *Aroga websteri* (Furniss and Barr 1975) and to herbicides (Eckert and Evans 1968). Fire is not common in *A. arbuscula* vegetation due to the scarcity of fuel (Gipe 1976).

Artemisia nova (Black sagebrush)

This is a low-growing evergreen species, similar in many ways to *A. arbuscula*, but generally lower in stature (2040 cm), (8-16 inch), with smaller leaves and an inflorescence which is dark brown and persistent in the year following its production (Beetle 1960). The crushed leaves are highly pungent and usually sticky. This species is widely distributed over the sagebrush region. *Artemisia nova* occurs primarily on soils which are shallow and gravelly, well drained, and often calcareous (Thatcher 1959, Hironaka

1963, Zamora and Tueller 1973). Where A. arbuscula and A. nova meet, as in parts of eastern Idaho, the former generally occupies higher elevations or slightly moister habitats (Ward 1953). Artemisia nova tends to occur in drier areas than those occupied by A. arbuscula or A. tridentata wyomingensis. It has a shallower root system than A. tridentata, and its annual growth is more dependent on amounts of water near the soil surface (Stevens et al. 1974).

Artemisia nova is most abundant in the southern part of the Intermountain region where it occurs in stands of varying size surrounded by larger areas of salt-desert vegetation (Hutchings and Stewart 1953). A form of A. nova with canescent leaves occurs in parts of Utah, Nevada, and in southeastern Idaho. It appears to differ from the typical form of the species in animal preference and possibly other characters of significance for management, but no definitive studies of it have been made (Winward 1980).

The phenology of the species is similar to that of A. arbuscula, but slightly earlier (Beetle 1960). Artemisia nova is also a nonsprouter and can be killed by fire or insects. The sparse vegetation of most stands makes them virtually fireproof.

Artemisia bigelovii (Bigelow sagebrush)

This species differs from all others in the section Tridentatae by having ray as well as disk flowers. Some authorities consider it to belong to the section Abrotanum, but the weight of evidence seems to place it in the Tridentatae (McArthur 1979).

This sagebrush is a low growing species (20-40 cm tall), with numerous spreading vegetative branches and slender erect flowering stems with long narrow panicles. The vegetative leaves are tridentate like those of A. tridentata, but more shallowly and sharply dentate (Beetle 1960). Bigelow sagebrush is more southern in distribution than the other species of the section Tridentatae, and occurs mainly in the drainage of the Colorado River and its territories, in the states of Utah, Colorado, Arizona, and New Mexico.

Few published data are available for this species, although Beetle (1960) rates it fifth among the sagebrush species in area occupied. It is considered to be highly drought resistant and a nonsprouter after fire or cutting. It seems to be relatively free from the insect galls which are common to the other sagebrush species. Data on soil relationships appear to be lacking.

Artemisia tripartita (Three-tip sagebrush)

Artemisia tripartita is a species of moderate size, averaging 40 to 80 cm (16-32 inch) and distinguished by its slender, deeply three-cleft leaves and relatively open inflo-

rescence. Two subspecies are recognized, but one of these, subsp. rupicola, is found only east of the Continental Divide, while subsp. tripartita occurs throughout the northern and central parts of the sagebrush region (Beetle 1960). Subspecies tripartita frequently occurs adjacent to stands of A. tridentata and the habitat factors responsible for the distribution of the two species are not well understood. Artemisia tripartita occurs on soils of moderate depth with good fertility and drainage (Thatcher 1959, Passey and Hugie 1962b, Tisdale et al. 1965). Although the soil relationships of A. tripartita appear generally similar to those of A. tridentata, its moisture requirements seem greater than those of subsp. tridentata and wvomingensis. Where it occurs adjacent to either of these, A. tripartita is confined to north and east slopes or to shallow depressions (Tisdale et al. 1965, Daubenmire 1970). In eastern Oregon and western Idaho, A. tripartita often occurs in isolated stands in depressions surrounded by A. tridentata wyomingensis, but is more abundant and widespread in eastern Idaho where soil moisture in summer is less limiting due to a higher proportion of summer rainfall and lower temperatures (Hironaka 1963).

Artemisia tripartita sprouts after fire, cutting, or even herbicide treatments (Beetle 1960, Pechanec et al. 1965), regenerating by sprouts from shallow lateral roots and from adventitious buds on the base of stems (Daubenmire 1970).

The phenology of *A. tripartita* as recorded by Blaisdell (1958) in eastern Idaho shows leaf growth starting in late April, shoot growth in mid-June, full flower in mid-September and seed ripe by mid-October. The pattern is similar to that of *A. tridentata* subsp. *tridentata*.

Wright (1970) found that *A. tripartita* reacted the same as *A. tridentata* to clipping in mid-summer, but was less tolerant than the latter to clipping during fall and winter.

Artemisia cana (Silver sagebrush)

Artemisia cana is moderate in size, 50 to 90 cm (20-36 inch), with leaves which are entire, or partially lobed, relatively long and often whitish pubescent. This species occurs primarily east of the Continental Divide and is the principal sagebrush in much of the Great Plains, where it occurs widely though usually in rather sparse stands (K.L. Johnson 1979). The form occurring on the Great Plains, subsp. cana, occurs on a wide variety of sites, but is particularly adapted to deep light textured soils (Hazlett and Hoffman 1975). Only the subspecies viscidula and bolanderi, distinguished by their narrower, often divided leaves, occur west of the Rockies (Beetle 1960). Subspecies viscidula, with greenish leaves, occurs mainly on stream banks, meadows, and depressions in the central part of the sagebrush region. Subspecies bolanderi, distinguished by its canescent leaves, grows on poorly drained soils in the far western part of the sagebrush region in central Oregon and eastern California.

Artemisia cana is a shrub of moderate size, with a rounded crown and an inflorescence of dense, narrow leafy panicles. It reproduces vegetatively by root sprouting and sprouts readily after fire or grazing (McArthur et al. 1979).

Artemisia longiloba (Early low sagebrush)

Artemisia longiloba is a low growing species, 20 to 40 cm (8-16 inch), similar in many respects to A. arbuscula, but distinguished by larger leaves with obtuse lobes, larger flowering heads and early maturity (Beetle 1960). This species is confined to shallow, poorly drained soils, generally with dense clay "B" horizons (Passey and Hugie 1962b, Robertson et al. 1966, Tisdale et al. 1969, Zamora and Tueller 1973). The common name "alkali sagebrush" suggested for this species and the statement that it occurs on "alkaline soils" are misleading, as these soils are neutral rather than alkaline, as shown by the studies listed above. This species generally occurs in small, sharply defined stands. When associated with A. arbuscula it usually occurs on lower lying areas where soil moisture is slightly higher.

Artemisia rigida (Stiff sagebrush)

Artemisia rigida is a low growing species, 30 to 40 cm (12-16 inch), with silvery canescent leaves which are deeply divided into three to five narrow segments. Unlike the sagebrush species described previously, *A. rigida* is fully deciduous; the plants remain bare of leaves all winter. It occurs on soils that are extremely shallow to bedrock, usually basalt (Hall 1967, Daubenmire 1970). This species is confined to the northwestern portion of the sagebrush region, mainly in Washington and eastern Oregon (Beetle 1960). Its occurrence in Idaho is limited to small areas close to the western border of the state.

Artemisia rigida grows in a fairly wide range of climatic conditions, and may occur adjacent to stands of A. tridentata subsp. tridentata or subsp. vaseyana, or A. tripartita, but is clearly limited by edaphic factors. Little is recorded concerning the effects of fire or biotic factors on A. rigida. The sparse, herbaceous understory and open nature of the stands make them virtually immune to fire. Preliminary tests suggest that the species does not sprout after clipping to a height of 3 to 4 cm.¹

Artemisia rothrockii (Rothrock sagebrush)

This is a relatively low-growing, flat-topped species which resembles *A. tridentata* subsp. *vaseyana*, with which it often has been confused. *Artemisia rothrockii* is distinguished by the densely canescent, three-lobed leaves of the vegetative shoots and by the short, interrupted spike-like inflorescence. Layering is common in this species. The distribution is strictly at high elevations, in California, Colorado, and western Wyoming (Beetle 1960, McArthur et al. 1979). Material from the mountains of

¹ E. W. Tisdale. 1980. Unpublished data on file. College of Forestry, Wildlife and Range Sciences. Univ. of Idaho, Moscow.

southeastern Idaho, Utah, and Nevada which has been assigned to this species probably belongs to *A. tridentata vaseyana* or to an undescribed taxon (Winward 1976, McArthur et al. 1979).

Beetle (1960) reports that *A. rothrockii* occurs on "deep soils," and that new growth starts in May with seed maturing in September to October. Apart from these observations, no data on the ecology of this species have been found.

Chrysothamnus (Rabbitbrush)

Two widely distributed species of this genus are important in the sagebrush-grass region. Chrysothamnus nauseosus (rubber rabbitbrush) is a deciduous shrub of variable size, 60 to 120 cm (24-48 inch), with narrow leaves, numerous yellow flowering heads, and twigs covered by feltlike hairs. The species is variable, morphologically and ecologically. Hitchcock and Cronquist (1974) list six varieties, four of which, i.e., nauseosus, albicaulis, glabratus and artus, occur in the sagebrush region. Anderson (1966) recognized subspecies albicaulis, consimilis, graveolens and salicifolius. Of these, var. or subsp. albicaulis seems to be the same taxon, while var. glabratus of Hitchcock apparently equals subsp. graveolens of Anderson, and var. artus equals subsp. consimilis. Subspecies salicifolius, a high elevation form common in northern Utah, is not listed by Hitchcock. Hanks and co-workers (1975) were able to separate subspecies albicaulis, graveolens, consimilis and salicifolius by paper chromatography and among these taxa to demonstrate differences in habitat and in palatability to grazing animals. Generally, recognition of C. nauseosus has not been made to subspecific level, although Daubenmire (1970) has designated the material in eastern Washington as var. albicaulis.

Galls produced by tephritid flies are common on several species of Chrysothamnus (Furniss and Barr 1975). McArthur et al. (1979) report that the type of gall may be related to subspecific differences in C. nauseosus. Subspecies albicaulis was commonly infested with a round, firm stem gall, while subsp. consimilis and graveolens had fluffy, less persistent galls. These differences were fairly constant over much of the Great Basin. Wangberg (1976), in a study of tephritid gall-formers on Chrysothamnus in Idaho, found that the same insect species, Aciurina bigeloviae, form three different types of galls on C. nauseosus subsp. albicaulis, depending on the geographical location of the host. The same insect forms different types of galls on subsp. consimilis, also on another host species, C. parryi. Gall host specificity shows promise as an additional means of identifying Chrysothamnus taxa, but the relationship of predator and host is not simple.

Chrysothamnus viscidiflorus, the other common species of rabbitbrush in the sagebrush region, is also a variable species. It is a moderately low shrub, 60 to 100 cm

(24-40 inch), distinguished from C. nauseosus by glabrous or puberulent twigs and leaves, the latter often twisted. Hitchcock et al. (1955) described seven varieties, namely, lanceolatus, humilis, puberulus, pumilis, stenophyllus, viscidiflorus and latifolius. The varieties are characterized by Hitchcock and Cronquist (1974) as "only obscurely or scarcely correlated with ecology and geographic distribution." Since few workers have identified their material to subspecies, it is difficult to judge the accuracy of this statement. Winward (1970) found that in southeastern Idaho var. pumilus was associated with habitat types dominated by A. tridentata subsp. tridentata and wyomingensis, while var. viscidiflorus was associated with moister sites dominated by A. tridentata subsp. vasevana. Lauer and Peek (1976) report a similar situation in east central Idaho with var. pumilis on the drier sites and vars. lanceolatus and viscidiflorus on more mesic situations. McArthur et al. (1978a) used paper chromatographic analysis of phenolic compounds in C. viscidiflorus to separate the subspecies. They found this method particularly useful in view of the difficulty of identifications by morphological characters, many of which are highly vari-These workers found subsp. viscidiflorus, stenoable. phyllus, lanceolatus, and puberulus to be the most abundant in the Great Basin. It is likely that additional ecological differences within both species of rabbitbrush will be found when identification to the varietal level is made more commonly.

Since ecological information on both species of Chrysothamnus is scarce and since they are similar in many respects, they will be discussed together with differences noted where these have been observed. Both species occur throughout the sagebrush region, but usually as minor components of relatively undisturbed sagebrush-grass stands (Eckert and Evans 1968, Tisdale et al. 1969, Hironaka and Fosberg 1979). Disturbance by fire or mechanical damage favors Chrysothamnus and results in a marked increase in both species (McKell and Chilcote 1957, Blackburn et al. 1969, Daubenmire 1975b, McArthur et al. 1979). This reaction is due primarily to the ability of both species to sprout and to their high rate of reproduction from seed when competition from other species has been reduced (McKell and Chilcote 1957). The plumed seeds of Chrysothamnus are well adapted for dispersion by wind and greatly excel Artemisia in this respect. Growth of Chrysothamnus begins in early spring, usually at the same time as associated species of Artemisia, but development proceeds more rapidly, to flower production in late July and August, and seed ripening and shedding in September (McKell and Chilcote 1957, Blaisdell 1958). McKell and Chilcote (1957) reported seed germination of only 16 to 31 percent under laboratory conditions, but seed production was heavy in vigorous plants. Seedlings usually appear in abundance in the spring months if moisture conditions are favorable.

A phenological study of *C. viscidiflorus* near Reno, Nevada by Young and Evans (1974) showed growth starting the end of February, but proceeding very slowly until early May due to low temperatures. A rapid growth period followed until the end of June, after which growth slowed again. Flowering occurred from mid-August until mid-September, with abundant production of achenes. Only 2 percent of the plants on this site, burned 12 years earlier, were from root sprouts, indicating the importance of reproduction from seed in this species. Growth was affected strongly by amount of competition and age of plant, with young plants growing much more rapidly than older ones.

Chrysothamnus grows on a wide range of soils. Chrysothamnus nauseosus appears to be favored by deep, sandy soils (Daubenmire 1942), but is not restricted to them. Some varieties of C. viscidiflorus can tolerate relatively saline soils (Plummer et al. 1968). Branson et al. (1976) found total root mass per unit area greater for C. nauseosus than for Artemisia tridentata, although effective rooting depth was less. Frischknecht (1963), however, found C. nauseosus less competitive with crested wheatgrass than was Artemisia tridentata.

The general response of *Chrysothamnus* to fire or mechanical injury is sprouting from adventitious buds formed at the summit of the roots (Daubenmire 1975b). Sprouting can occur within a few months of injury and those shoots can flower during the same season (McKell and Chilcote 1957). *Chrysothamnus* is also relatively resistant to many herbicides and often survived applications of 2,4-D which are sufficient to kill most species of *Artemisia* (Blaisdell and Mueggler 1956b, Robertson and Cords 1957, Hyder et al. 1962, Laycock and Phillips 1968, Mohan 1973). Heavier applications of 2,4-D and picloram, plus better timing of application, have been effective in killing rabbitbrush (Eckert and Evans 1968, Laycock and Phillips 1968, Mohan 1973, Evans and Young 1975).

A number of insects including species of Trirhabda, Crossidius, Agrilus, Aciurina, Procecidochares, Apterona and Synnoma are known to feed on Chrysothamnus (Furniss and Barr 1975). While several of these insects cause significant damage locally and periodically, the most important seem to be Trirhabda, especially T. mitidicollis and T. lewisii. Massey and Pierce (1960) report that larvae of this beetle killed "large areas" of C. nauseosus in western New Mexico in 1957. Comparable outbreaks are not known to have occurred elsewhere. Overall, it does not appear that Chrysothamnus is affected as seriously by any insect as Artemisia is by Aroga websteri.

Clipping studies indicate that *Chrysothamnus* responds to continued harvesting in much the same way as other shrubs of the sagebrush region. Garrison (1953) found that *C. nauseosus* produced well when 73 percent of the annual growth was clipped during autumn for 4 years, but crown cover of the plants declined. It appeared that 50 percent would be a safe rate of use in the fall and winter seasons.

It is apparent that both species of *Chrysothamnus* have sufficient ecological amplitude to enable them to occupy a wide variety of sites within the sagebrush-grass region. They are well adapted to tolerate many forms of disturbance and to quickly occupy disturbed sites. This is their principal role in the region (Young and Evans 1974).

Purshia (Bitterbrush)

Two species, *Purshia tridentata* (antelope bitterbrush) and *P. glandulosa* (desert bitterbrush), occur in the sagebrush-grass region. Of these, *P. tridentata* is abundant and widely distributed in the region, while *P. glandulosa* is primarily a desert species, reaching the sagebrush type only in southwestern Utah, southern Nevada, and northwestern Arizona.

Purshia glandulosa is a compact, usually erect shrub with evergreen, glandular leaves, and relatively large flowers (20 mm bract). By contrast, *P. tridentata* is intricately branched, highly variable in growth form with deciduous, nonglandular leaves and small flowers (8 mm bract). Purshia glandulosa is thought to have developed as a hybrid between *P. tridentata* and *Cowania mexicana* var. stansburiana (cliffrose).

Purshia tridentata occurs in several communities of the sagebrush-grass region and in the mountain shrub, pinyon/juniper and ponderosa pine regions. The high preference rating shown for it by native herbivores and domestic livestock make it especially important as a browse species (Hormay 1943, Nord 1965). The forage value, abundance and wide distribution of antelope bitterbrush have resulted in more information concerning it than is available for most native shrubs. Two annotated bibliographies for this species have been published (Basile 1967, Clark and Britton 1979); Clark (1979) has provided a literature review with emphasis on response to burning and cutting.

Antelope bitterbrush occurs over a large area in North America, including the Rocky Mountain and Pacific coastal states. No taxonomic subdivisions of the species are recognized (Hitchcock and Cronquist 1974). Ecotypic variation occurs, however, for Nord (1965), Alderfer (1977), Monsen and Christiansen (1975), and Wright et al. (1979) report heritable, habitat-related differences in stature and growth form.

Seasonal development of antelope bitterbrush as reported by Blaisdell (1958) in eastern Idaho, showed leaf growth beginning in early spring, at about the same time as associated species of *Artemisia*. Flower bud formation and flowering occurred in early and late May respectively, about 3 months earlier than in most species of *Artemisia*. Seed of *Purshia* was ripe by mid-July and shed by early August. The leaves were drying by this time and were shed in early winter. Actual dates of these growth stages vary over the range of the species, and Nord (1965) reports flowering in March in some parts of California.

Nord (1965) reports that seed production under natural conditions begins when plants are about 10 years old. Seed production depends on climatic conditions and plant vigor, and abundant seed crops are produced only three or four times each decade. The relatively large, heavy seeds drop close to the parent plant and are disseminated mainly by rodents. The latter eat a high proportion, but also aid seedling establishment by burying seed (Sanderson 1962). The seeds are dormant when shed, and require stratification before germination (Evans and Young 1977a). This process normally occurs over winter, and germination comes in early spring. Seedling survival depends primarily on soil moisture during the first growing season, and seedling mortality is usually high (Holmgren 1956, Ferguson 1972). Seed which fails to germinate in the first season following production rarely survives to a second year.

Vegetative propagation can occur by layering or by sprouting from the base after fire or cutting. The amount of sprouting after fire varies greatly according to geographic location. It is uncommon over much of the area occupied by bitterbrush, sporadic in California (Nord 1965) and common in eastern Idaho (Blaisdell 1953, Blaisdell and Mueggler 1956a). The latter found that intensity of the fire and soil moisture conditions during and shortly after burning were key factors affecting amount of sprouting. Clark (1979), in eastern Oregon, found that cutting bitterbrush plants to ground level was less injurious than burning them. Burning in the fall caused complete mortality, but survival of 30 to 50 percent occurred after spring burning. The addition of water to the sites just before or after burning improved survival rates slightly. An erect form of P. tridentata was damaged more severely than a decumbent form by either fire or cutting. Bitterbrush plants are long-lived, commonly attaining ages of 80 years or more except when grazed excessively (Nord 1965, McConnell and Smith 1977).

Antelope bitterbrush is generally found on deep, well-drained, often coarse-textured, nonsaline soils, including sands and volcanic ash (Nord 1965, Daubenmire 1970, Chadwick and Dalke 1965). Some populations can also grow on shallow, rocky soils (Mueggler and Stewart 1980), or even on clay soils (Alderfer 1977). It tends to occur in the moister parts of the sagebrush zone, usually associated with *A. tridentata* subsp. *tridentata* and subsp. *vaseyana*, or with *A. tripartita*.

The tolerance of antelope bitterbrush to clipping or grazing is similar to that of associated shrubs in the sagebrush-grass region. Garrison (1953) found that plants on favored sites produced maximum foliage when clipped in the fall at a rate of 75 percent of the annual growth, but failed to make normal growth in height. A safe rate of utilization was estimated to be about 60 percent on these sites and only 50 percent on poorer sites. Trlica et al. (1977) reported slow recovery after three defoliations of 90 percent. Buwai and Trlica (1977) found that defoliation during the latter part of the growing season was more detrimental than the same treatment applied earlier, at a time when regrowth was still possible. McConnell and Smith (1977) report that browse production per acre increased for the short term with heavy grazing in spring and summer, but then declined due to the premature death of many plants.

Bitterbrush is host to a variety of insects (Furniss and Barr 1975), the most harmful of which is the western tent caterpillar (*Malacosoma californicum*) whose larvae eat the leaves. The seasonal feeding period of the insect coincides with the period of maximum vulnerability of the plants, and two consecutive defoliations can kill plants whose vigor has already been lowered by heavy grazing or other factors (Clark 1956). A number of insects, including thrips and gall midges, reduce seed production of bitterbrush by feeding on the buds and flowers (Ferguson et al. 1963, Furniss and Barr 1975).

Purshia is more resistant to herbicides such as 2.4-D and 2,4,5-T than are most species of Artemisia. This differential response has been utilized in attempts to kill sagebrush in mixed stands without harming the bitterbrush. Results have been mixed. Blaisdell and Mueggler (1956b) in eastern Idaho obtained high rates of killing on big sagebrush with only minor damage to associated bitterbrush. Hyder and Sneva (1962) found a more critical situation under drier conditions in eastern Oregon. Damage to bitterbrush varied considerably with different treatments, but was least with light applications of 2,4-D made early in spring when new leaves of bitterbrush and sagebrush were first appearing. Mortality was highest for young bitterbrush plants under 30 cm (12 inch). Growth stage of bitterbrush, duration of favorable growing conditions after treatment, and age of the plants were the principal factors determining the effects of herbicide application.

Much less information is available for *P. glandulosa*. It is rated as a valuable browse species, though less palatable than *P. tridentata* (Sampson and Jespersen 1963). Its phenology is similar to that of the latter species. Desert bitterbrush sprouts readily after burning, and is valuable for restoration of seriously disturbed sites because of its sprouting ability and low soil fertility requirements (Blauer et al. 1975).

Amelanchier (Serviceberry)

Two species, A. alnifolia (Saskatoon serviceberry) and A. utahensis (Utah serviceberry), occur in and adjacent to the sagebrush-grass region. Amelanchier alnifolia is a variable species, with five poorly defined varieties, three of which (vars. alnifolia, humilis and cusickii) occur in the area covered by this review (Hitchcock and Cronquist 1974). The varieties have rarely been recognized by investigators, so little is known of their ecological significance. In Idaho, var. *alnifolia* seems to be widespread, while var. *humilis* is restricted to drier sites, and var. *cusickii* mainly to riparian situations.²

Amelanchier alnifolia occurs throughout western North America, and occupies a wide variety of habitats in the sagebrush-grass, mountain brush, pinyon/juniper and ponderosa pine regions (Hitchcock and Cronquist 1974, Blauer et al. 1975). Amelanchier utahensis has a more restricted range, occurring mainly in the Intermountain areas of Idaho, Oregon, Nevada, Utah and Colorado, also in New Mexico and northern Arizona (Yake and Brotherton 1979). It tends to occupy drier habitats than A. alnifolia. Both species are usually minor constituents of the communities in which they occur (Blauer et al. 1975).

The importance of *Amelanchier* lies in its wide distribution and high forage value. Both species are highly palatable to native herbivores, and are eaten readily by sheep and cattle (USDA Forest Service 1937, Hemmer 1975, Blauer et al. 1975). It is a deciduous shrub, attaining heights of 1 to 5 m (3-16 ft) depending on site quality and grazing pressure. It reproduces both by seed and vegetatively by root sprouting. Ages of 50 to 85 years are attained where the plant is climax, but less where the plant is seral as it often is in forest or woodland types (Hemmer 1975, Blauer et al. 1975).

The aerial portions of *Amelanchier* are easily destroyed by fire, but survival usually occurs through root sprouting (Stanton 1974). Light clipping or grazing stimulates growth, and full vigor can be maintained under a use rate of 60 percent in fall or winter. Clipping in spring and summer is more harmful, with a safe use rate of 40 to 50 percent indicated (Young and Payne 1948, Shepherd 1971).

Both species of *Amelanchier* occur sparingly in sagebrush-grass vegetation, mainly in communities dominated by *Artemisia tridentata* subsp. *vaseyana*, but are found also on rocky areas in more xeric sagebrush types.

Cercocarpus ledifolius (Curlleaf mountain-mahogany)

Cercocarpus ledifolius, unlike *Amelanchier*, is rarely found growing in sagebrush-grass communities, but occurs in adjacent areas, often occupying a zone between sagebrush and coniferous vegetation. This species occurs throughout the Intermountain region from southern Oregon east through Montana and Wyoming, and south to Arizona and California. Two varieties, *ledifolius* and *intercedens* are recognized (Hitchcock and Cronquist 1974), but no ecological differences between varieties are indicated in the literature.

Cercocarpus ledifolius is an erect evergreen shrub or small tree, attaining heights of 6 m (20 ft) on favorable sites. It reproduces primarily by seed, but sprouts to some extent from the base of the trunk after cutting, though rarely after fire. Seedlings are produced in considerable numbers, but mortality is high due to seasonal drought and grazing by rodents and rabbits (Scheldt 1969). Larger plants are utilized mainly by big game, especially deer to whom this species is highly palatable. Utilization by domestic livestock is light (Scheldt and Tisdale 1970, Duncan 1975, Blauer et al. 1975).

Curlleaf mahogany occurs mainly on rocky and immature soils. Fire tends to kill most existing plants, and restocking occurs mainly from seed. Susceptibility to fire may have kept *C. ledifolius* from occupying sites with deeper, less rocky soils (Dealy 1975). There is no evidence, however, of mass invasion into sites previously occupied by sagebrush-grass as in the case of *Juniperus occidentalis* (Burkhardt and Tisdale 1969, 1976).

The response of *C. ledifolius* to clipping or grazing differs from that of many other shrubs. Grazing of larger plants usually results in greatly diminished regrowth of the lower branches, and most of the potential forage is produced on the upper part of the plant, out of reach of grazing animals. Thompson (1970) reports that forage production from such plants can be greatly increased by topping, provided this is done in early spring or fall. Plants grazed heavily while still small assume a rounded form and appear to withstand browsing much like bitterbrush (Garrison 1953, Scheldt and Tisdale 1970, Blauer et al. 1975).

Curlleaf mahogany is affected by a number of insects, the most important being the mountain-mahogany looper (*Anacamptodes clivinaria*). Normal populations of this insect are small and cause little damage, but occasional outbreaks occur. A 3-year outbreak in southwestern Idaho killed 50 percent of the *Cercocarpus* plants in a 6000-acre stand (Furniss and Barr 1975).

Prunus (Wild cherry)

Two species of *Prunus*, *P. emarginatus* (bittercherry) and *P. virginiana* var. *melanocarpa* (western chokecherry) occur in and adjacent to the sagebrush region. Both species range throughout most of western North America (Hitchcock and Cronquist 1974). They occur along with *Amelanchier*, *Purshia*, etc., in mixed stands in the mountain brush region, but also form relatively pure stands on limited areas. Within sagebrush-grass vegetation, *Prunus* usually occurs in the form of scattered plants, associated with the more mesic *Artemisia* communities (Roberts 1971).

² F. D. Johnson, University of Idaho, Moscow.

Neither species has received much study, although it is recognized that both are eaten readily by native herbivores and to a lesser extent by domestic livestock. The leaves and young shoots of *P. virginiana* are poisonous to livestock, due to containing a precursor of hydrocyanic acid. Technically, the plants are toxic throughout spring and summer, but due to relatively low palatability animals rarely eat enough to be affected. Wildlife seem to be immune (USDA Forest Service 1937).

Both species propagate by seed and vegetatively by root suckers, with the latter method most common. They sprout readily after cutting or burning (Roberts 1971, Wright et al. 1979). They can be seral in forest habitats, but stands in mountain brush areas appear to be relatively stable (Roberts 1971).

Symphoricarpos (Snowberry)

Two species, S. oreophilus (mountain snowberry) and S. albus (common snowberry) have a wide range in western North America. Symphoricarpos oreophilus is more common in the sagebrush region, however, and occurs in several of the more mesic communities with Artemisia tridentata subsp. vaseyana (Schlatterer 1972, Hironaka and Fosberg 1979). It is also common in several communities of the mountain brush region (Schlatterer 1972).

Symphoricarpos albus appears to be marginal in the sagebrush region, occurring mainly in the northern portion, and more closely related to the Pacific Northwest bunchgrass vegetation where it occurs with *Festuca idahoensis* (Daubenmire 1970).

Both species of Symphoricarpos are erect, deciduous shrubs which grow to heights of 50 to 150 cm (20-60 inch). Little has been published concerning their ecology. The only detailed study of a member of this genus is that by Pelton (1953) on S. occidentalis in Minnesota. Both S. albus and S. oreophilus reproduce by rhizomes as well as by seed. Both resprout after fire or cutting, but S. oreophilus is a weak sprouter and is harmed by fire (Blaisdell 1953, Wright et al. 1979). Both species are eaten fairly readily by deer, elk and sheep, but less by cattle (Sampson and Jesperson 1963). Morris et al. (1962) rate S. oreophilus highest in grazing value of the four species of Symphoricarpos which occur in Montana, including S. albus.

Agropyron spicatum (Bluebunch wheatgrass)

This is the most abundant and widespread perennial grass of the sagebrush region and the most important economically. Relatively little variability of a morphological nature has been reported in this species. Hitchcock and Cronquist (1974) recognize two varieties, *spicatum* and *pubescens*, but regard these as little more than geographical races distinguished only by differences in pubescence of the vegetative parts. The presence or absence of awns on the lemmas has been given taxonomic status in the past, the awnless form having been called *A. inerme* (Hitchcock and Chase 1951) or *A. spicatum* var. *inerme*. Due to the variability of this character, and to the lack of other morphological differences (Daubenmire 1939, Chapman and Perry 1973), most authorities now consider both awned and awnless plants to form one taxon, *A. spicatum*. Ecological significance may be associated with the awn character, however, for Passey and Hugie (1963c) found that in southern Idaho awnless populations were confined to the more mesic sites, while awned plants occupied drier areas. In most of British Columbia awnless plants dominate under all situations (Tisdale 1947).

Agropyron spicatum has a wide geographic and ecological range, and occurs throughout western North America east of the Cascades and Pacific coastal mountains. It is an important constituent of the Pacific Northwest bunchgrass, mountain shrub, pinyon/juniper and ponderosa pine regions along with the sagebrush vegetation. It is a long-lived perennial which usually forms distinct bunches, but populations with short rhizomes occur in the more mesic habitats. This characteristic is found in the sagebrush region (Passey and Hugie 1963a) and appears to be heritable (Daubenmire 1960). The existence of other forms of ecotypic variation is suggested by its occurrence over a wide range of habitats. DeWitt (1969) found striking differences in rate of seedling root growth in populations of A. spicatum from 51 source locations in nine western states and two Canadian provinces. There were also significant differences among sources in growth response at different soil temperatures. Further study will probably reveal additional genealogical variability, which enables this species to thrive in so great a variety of habitats.

Agropyron spicatum reproduces by seed, and seed production varies greatly by years depending primarily on precipitation. Harris (1967) reported a germination rate of 53 percent in the laboratory and 16 percent under field conditions in southeastern Washington. Germination occurred in the fall, but it is likely that some seeds can remain dormant over winter and germinate in the spring. The seedlings are slow growing in their first year and appear less vigorous than those of competing species such as the annual Bromus tectorum. Harris (1967, 1970, 1977) found that although A. spicatum and B. tectorum plants germinated at the same time in the fall, root growth of the brome was much greater over winter. As a result, the annual was able to compete better for soil moisture during the following growing season.

Once established, *A. spicatum* is a highly drought tolerant, long lived species, well adapted to the various habitats occupied. In areas where significant fall rains occur, new leaf growth in that season may attain heights of

12 to 25 cm (5-10 inch) (Harris 1967, Evans and Tisdale 1972). Growth resumes in early spring and proceeds rapidly while soil moisture is abundant. Blaisdell (1958) found that vegetative growth of *A. spicatum* was generally completed by the end of May. Flowering occurred in late June and seed was ripe and shedding by late July, but plants were not fully dried until mid-August. Growth development was a few weeks earlier at lower elevations (Evans and Tisdale 1972, Daubenmire 1972), but in all cases *A. spicatum* fully utilized the period of the year when soil moisture was available.

The root system of A. spicatum is characterized by primary roots which grow to depths of 1 to 1.5 m (3.5 ft)depending on soil conditions, and by adventitious roots which spread laterally from the root crown for distances of 20 to 30 cm (8-12 inch) before turning downward (Hanson and Stoddart 1940, Harris 1967). Thus a single root system occupies a considerable volume of soil from surface to maximum root depth.

Agropyron spicatum occurs under an exceptionally wide range of climatic and soil conditions. The precipitation range is from about 18 to 76 cm (7-30 inch) annually, with temperatures varying greatly due to an altitudinal range of 150 to 2400 m (500-8000 ft) or more. Soils vary greatly in texture, depth, etc., but tolerance to soil salinity is low (Dewey 1960, Daubenmire 1970).

The primary biotic factors affecting A. spicatum are herbage removal by animals and damage by fire. The effects of the former have been studied extensively (Stoddart 1946, Blaisdell and Pechanec 1949, Wilson et al. 1966). These workers found that A. spicatum is highly sensitive to clipping especially in the late sheath or head emerging stages. Reserve carbohydrates are at their lowest point during these stages, and opportunities for regrowth are small in areas of summer drought. Herbage production of A. spicatum is severely reduced by even 1 year of such treatment and repetition for 2 or 3 consecutive years kills most plants. Mueggler (1975) found that the recovery of A. spicatum plants whose vigor had been reduced by clipping was a slow process, requiring as much as 6 years to regain normal vigor. Agropyron spicatum is more tolerant to the effects of fire than to those of clipping. Blaisdell (1953) and Mueggler and Blaisdell (1958) found that burning of sagebrush-grass stands reduced the yield of this grass for the first year after burning, but yields were increased by the third year. Pechanec et al. (1965) and Wright et al. (1979) reported that fires in late summer or fall when A. spicatum is mature were less damaging than fires earlier in the season. Uresk et al. (1976) found an increase in leaf and culm production the first year following a late summer fire. Conrad and Poulton (1966) found significant reduction in basal area but no mortality following a fire in mid-summer. Plants in the ungrazed portion of the site were damaged more than grazed plants, presumably due to greater intensity of fire where more fuel was available.

Festuca idahoensis (Idaho fescue)

This species is important in the sagebrush-grass region due to its wide range, abundance and good forage value. The only subspecific units recognized are var. oregona which occurs in subalpine to alpine areas from Washington to California, and var. *idahoensis* which occurs over the range of the species. No ecological significance has been established for these varieties. Dwarfed plants at high elevations in the Rocky Mountains are sometimes confused with *F. ovina* (Mueggler and Stewart 1980).

Festuca idahoensis occurs in a wide variety of habitats, and is an important species in the Pacific Northwest bunchgrass, mountain shrub, pinyon/juniper and ponderosa pine regions as well as the sagebrush-grass. In the latter, it is abundant mainly in the moister and/or cooler portions of the region, occurring to elevations of 2730 m (9000 ft) (Hironaka and Fosberg 1979). It is commonly associated with A. tridentata subsp. tridentata and vaseyana; and with A. tripartita and A. arbuscula. This grass is moderately drought resistant, but less tolerant of high summer temperatures than A. spicatum (Hironaka 1963, Daubenmire 1972, Hironaka and Fosberg 1979).

Ecotypic variation in F. *idahoensis* has been shown by Tisdale (1959, 1961), who studied 18 populations collected from a wide range of habitats. Heritable differences in survival, phenology, height, culm and seed production were found among these populations when grown under uniform conditions.

Idaho fescue is a perennial bunchgrass which propagates strictly from seed. Culms are abundant under favorable conditions and apparent seed production is high, but the percentage of filled caryopses is usually no more than fifty. Laboratory germination of filled seeds exceeded 50 percent for most populations, and ranged from 30 to 94 percent (Tisdale 1959). The seasonal growth development of *F. idahoensis* is similar to that of *A. spicatum* with which it is often associated. Vegetative growth begins in the fall when moisture and temperature conditions are suitable and resumes in early spring. Dates of flowering, seed ripening and shedding are 1 to 2 weeks earlier than in *A. spicatum* (Mueggler 1972a).

The results of clipping F. *idahoensis* plants show the same general response as for A. *spicatum*, the degree of injury depending on both time and intensity of clipping (Pond 1960, Mueggler 1972b, 1975). The fescue was less sensitive to the effects of clipping, however, and recovered vigor more rapidly, requiring about 3 years from low to full vigor compared with 6 years for A. *spicatum*. Pond (1960) showed that the detrimental effects of grazing Idaho fescue were greater in stands growing on granitic soils than for those on sedimentary soils. Both authors found leaf height to be a reliable index of vigor for this species.

Idaho fescue is less tolerant to fire than many grasses, including A. spicatum. Blaisdell (1953) and Mueggler and Blaisdell (1958) found that Idaho fescue was among the most severely injured species in stands of sagebrush-grass subjected to burning. Yields of fescue had not fully recovered in 12 to 15 years in some cases. Doubtless part of this injurious effect was due to competition from other herbaceous species which increased in 2 or 3 years after burning. Conrad and Poulton (1966) recorded a mortality of 25 percent and reduction of basal area of 50 percent for Idaho fescue 1 year after a mid-summer fire. Comparable damage to A. spicatum was only 1 and 29 percent. Burning is least damaging to F. idahoensis in spring or fall under conditions of adequate soil moisture (Wright et al. 1979).

Poa sandbergii (Sandberg bluegrass)

This species is abundant and widespread in the sagebrush-grass region, but because of its low stature and short season of growth is less important than the larger bunchgrasses discussed previously. Poa sandbergii, erroneously called P. secunda for many years, occurs widely in western North America, including the Great Plains. It is a highly variable species, but no taxonomic subdivisions have been established for it (Hitchcock and Cronquist 1974). Ecotypic variation occurs, but data on this aspect are extremely limited. Daubenmire (1970) reports instances of two or more populations which differ in morphology and phenology occurring in the same habitat. Hironaka and Tisdale (1973) studied two populations, one from a relatively mesic sagebrush-grass habitat and one from a drier site. These populations differed in phenology and stature when grown in a common environment, but also showed great intra-population variability.

Poa sandbergii is a low-growing perennial bunchgrass which is notable for early growth and short season of vegetative activity. Blaisdell (1958) found that this species began growth about 1 week earlier in the spring than *A. spicatum* and other associated grasses, flowered and ripened seed 3 weeks earlier, and became dried 5 weeks earlier. Laude (1953) and Hironaka and Tisdale (1972) found that summer dormancy is induced by a long photoperiod and high temperatures, not by lack of soil moisture. Fall leaf growth occurs in many habitats. Reproduction is entirely by seed, which is produced in significant amounts most years. Germination of 50 percent was obtained by Hironaka and Tisdale (1972) following an after-ripening period of about 3 months.

No data on the effects of clipping on *P. sandbergii* have been found in the literature. The effects of fire are better documented (Blaisdell 1953, Wright and Klemmedson 1965, Daubenmire 1975b). In these studies *P. sandbergii* was damaged little by fire and usually increased during the next few years.

Poa sandbergii is found in a large number of habitat types in the sagebrush-grass region, but is best represented in the drier portions of the region (Hironaka and Fosberg 1979).

Stipa (Needlegrass)

Four or five species of *Stipa*, depending on taxonomic interpretation, occur commonly in the sagebrushgrass vegetation. *Stipa comata* (needle-and-thread) and *S. thurberiana* (Thurber needlegrass) are common in the drier parts of the region. *Stipa occidentalis* (western needlegrass), *S. columbiana* (Columbia needlegrass), and *S. lettermanii* (Letterman needlegrass) occur in cooler, moister areas. All are native perennial bunchgrasses.

Stipa comata is characterized by long awns and a sharp callus on the seed. Two varieties are recognized, var. comata with the terminal section of the awn flexuous and curved and var. intermedia in which this awn segment is firm and nearly straight (Hitchcock and Cronquist 1974, Cronquist et al. 1977). Identification of S. comata to variety has been uncommon in ecological literature, but the references available indicate that var. comata is the most common, with var. intermedia restricted to relatively moist sites (Hironaka and Fosberg 1979). Stipa comata is dominant in the mixed prairie of the Great Plains, and is the most common needlegrass of the sagebrush region (USDA Forest Service 1937, Cronquist et al. 1977).

The most complete data on phenology are those of Blaisdell (1958). He found that spring growth began in early April at the same time as that of *Agropyron spicatum*. Subsequent development was faster, with seed ripening and shedding in early and late July respectively, nearly 3 weeks earlier than for *A. spicatum*. The fully dried stage for *S. comata* was reached in early August. Reproduction is entirely by seed; dissemination is aided by ready attachment to coats of animals.

Stipa comata is fairly susceptible to heavy grazing (USDA Forest Service 1937), although its tolerance may be increased by natural selection for a more prostrate growth form (Peterson 1962). Wright (1967) found that it was damaged more by clipping at the time of seed dispersal than was Sitanion hystrix, apparently because the foliage of Stipa was still green and photosynthetically active, while that of Sitanion was dry and dormant. A similar difference in reaction occurred with respect to fire in summer (Wright and Klemmedson 1965, Wright 1971).

Stipa comata is a dominant in several habitat types of the sagebrush region, in association with all three subspecies of Artemisia tridentata (Tueller and Blackburn 1974, Hironaka and Fosberg 1979). Only the variety intermedia occurs with A. tridentata vaseyana (Winward 1970). In these situations where S. comata is the climax dominant, the sites are edaphically distinct. The soils are coarse textured (sandy loam to loamy sand) and fairly deep. This relationship has been reported from other parts of the sagebrush region (Daubenmire 1970, Parsons et al. 1971).

Stipa comata acts as a decreaser under heavy grazing on sandy sites, but it may behave as an increaser on areas of comparable climate but finer textured soils (Tueller and Blackburn 1974, Hironaka and Fosberg 1979, Mueggler and Stewart 1980).

Stipa thurberiana is distinguished by shorter glumes, lemmas and awns than S. comata, and by the plumose hairs on the awns. Although widely distributed in the sagebrush region (Cronquist et al. 1977), this grass occurs mainly as a lesser associate of species such as Agropyron spicatum, and is recorded as a dominant in only one habitat type with Artemisia tridentata wyomingensis (Hironaka and Fosberg 1979).

Literature on the ecology of *S. thurberiana* is sparse. The phenology appears similar to that of *S. comata* (authors' observations). The species is palatable to livestock, (Uresk and Rickard 1976) and responds to heavy grazing as a decreaser, recovering slowly on sites where it has been depleted (Hironaka and Tisdale 1963, Tisdale et al. 1969). Reaction to 2 years of spring use of 50 percent utilization included a 21 percent reduction in leaf length but no decline in basal area such as was experienced by *Agropyron spicatum* (Rickard et al. 1975). *Stipa thurberiana* is readily damaged by fire during the summer season (Uresk et al. 1976, 1980) and behaves much like *S. comata* in being vulnerable to fire before the plants become fully dormant (Wright and Klemmedson 1965).

The habitat factors involved in sites dominated by *S. thurberiana* include climate with annual precipitation of about 25 cm (10 inch) and coarse-silty soils with deep poorly defined horizons, low content of organic matter in the "A" horizon, and a lime-silica hardpan at 37 to 50 cm (15-20 inch) (Hironaka and Fosberg 1979). The species occurs in lesser amounts on a wider range of soils, including shallow, fine-textured sites where it grows with *Artemisia longiloba* (Tisdale et al. 1965).

Stipa occidentalis, S. columbiana, and S. lettermanii are species associated with the higher, cooler portions of the sagebrush region, but are widely distributed within these portions (Hitchcock and Cronquist 1974, Cronquist et al. 1977). Stipa occidentalis and S. columbiana belong to a highly variable complex taxonomically. Cronquist et al. (1977) recognize both as valid species, but Hitchcock and Cronquist (1974) treat S. columbiana as var. minor of S. occidentalis. The plants of this group and S. lettermanii are similar in many respects and distinguished mainly by differences in the structure of the seed callus, length, and pubescence of awns and other floral characters. Stipa lettermanii commonly extends to higher elevations, and subalpine forms of it are commonly shorter and more slender than those of the S. occidentalis group. All three species occur in several habitat types of the sagebrush region, usually in association with *A. tridentata vaseyana* or *A. vaseyana spiciformis* and often with *Symphoricarpos oreophilus* also. These grasses occur commonly, but not as climax dominants and in most cases they act as increasers with heavy grazing (Schlatterer 1972, Hironaka and Fosberg 1979).

Sitanion hystrix (Squirreltail)

This perennial bunchgrass is common in the drier parts of the sagebrush-grass region. It is important mainly as a seral species of fair forage value which exceeds climax grasses such as *A. spicatum* in ability to increase rapidly in depleted stands once grazing pressures are reduced (Hironaka and Tisdale 1963, 1972).

Sitanion hystrix is widely distributed in the western United States and far western Canada. It is recognized as a variable species and its taxonomic treatment has differed among authorities. Wilson (1963) described two varieties, hystrix and californicum. Variety hystrix was considered to occupy the drier parts of the species range; californicum, a taller, later developing variety, occurred in the less arid portions. Hitchcock and Cronquist (1974) recognized three varieties, brevifolia, hordeoides and hystrix, and included var. californicum in variety hystrix. Cronquist et al. (1977) recognized var. californicum and described it as "midelevation to arctic-alpine" compared with lower elevation habitats for the other varieties.

Hironaka and Tisdale (1972, 1973) found differences in phenology, stature and productivity between two populations, one from a dry sagebrush-grass habitat and the other from a less arid area. These populations were identified as vars. *hystrix* and *californicum*, respectively, according to Wilson's (1963) classification. Clary (1975) found significant differences in phenology and production among 12 populations collected from seven states in the west and southwest, but failed to classify his material to varietal level.

The phenology of S. hystrix has received little study. In southwestern Idaho an experimental field planting provided a comparison between an early developing and a late developing population (Hironaka and Tisdale 1972). In the earlier population, leaf growth was well started by the first of April, the sheath stage occurred by early May, flowering by the end of May, seed ripe by late June and shedding by early July. The later population started leaf growth almost as early but developed less rapidly, so that subsequent growth stages were all about 2 weeks later. By mid-July the plants of the earlier variety had dried and gone into summer dormancy, the usual condition for this species in the drier parts of the sagebrush-grass region (Wright and Klemmedson 1965). This is a shorter growth period than that of A. spicatum and only 1 to 2 weeks longer than that of P. sandbergii. Seed is produced in abundance most years, and germination occurs rapidly and at high rates under a wide temperature range (Young and Evans 1977).

In the field, seed of S. hystrix germinated in the fall when moisture conditions were favorable, otherwise this occurred in the spring. Seedlings which started in fall resumed growth in March, and grew rapidly until soil moisture became deficient in mid-summer (Hironaka and Sindelar 1973). This early and vigorous aerial growth, plus the ability of the root system to continue growth at low temperatures during winter enables S. hystrix to compete successfully with aggressive annuals such as Bromus tectorum and Taeniatherum asperum (medusahead). Sitanion hystrix greatly exceeds A. spicatum and other climax grasses of the sagebrush-grass region in reproductive ability under these conditions (Hironaka and Sindelar 1975). This ability, plus the ready dispersal of the seed heads by wind, make it a successful species for increasing on depleted ranges (Hironaka and Tisdale 1963, Hironaka and Sindelar 1973). Although it has only moderate longevity (5-7 years) this grass is able to maintain a stand over a long period of years due to its strong reproductive ability.

Wright (1967) found that *S. hystrix* was affected most by clipping in the sheath and flowering stages, and much less by clipping in later growth stages. This species is little damaged by burning. No mortality and only moderate reduction in basal area occurred in plants burned in July, even less damage occurred from burning in August when the plants were fully dried (Wright and Klemmedson 1965).

Bromus tectorum (Cheatgrass, Downy brome)

Although this grass is introduced, and an annual, it has become so widespread and abundant that it now ranks among the major herbaceous species of the sagebrush-grass region. Two reviews of information on cheatgrass are available (Ibrahim 1957, Klemmedson and Smith 1964). Bromus tectorum is a well defined species, and no subspecific categories are recognized (Hitchcock and Cronquist 1974). A southern European species, it was introduced into North America in the latter part of the 19th Century and has spread until it occurs over the whole western part of the continent. It has become dominant on millions of acres in the sagebrush-grass and Pacific Northwest bunchgrass regions due to disturbance by cultivation, fire or excessive grazing (Stewart and Hull 1949, Klemmedson and Smith 1964). Ecotypic variation in *B. tectorum* noted by Hulbert (1955) included differences in phenology and winter survival, but no comprehensive study of intraspecific variability has been reported. Bromus tectorum ocupies a wide range of habitats within the sagebrush-grass region and occurs in most of the habitat types described to date. It tends to be extremely persistent, especially in drier sagebrush-grass communities (Daubenmire 1975b, Cline et al. 1977b).

Cheatgrass usually acts as a winter annual, the seed germinating in early fall when moisture becomes available. Germination can also occur in the spring, but the plants so produced are usually less numerous and vigorous and emergence is slow (Hull and Hansen 1974). Fall germinated plants resume activity in early spring when they grow and develop rapidly. Flowering occurs in early May, seed is ripe by early June and the plants are fully dried in 1 or 2 more weeks (Klemmedson and Smith 1964). These dates are about 6 weeks earlier than corresponding stages in *Agropyron spicatum*. Height growth and standing crop are highly variable from year to year, much more than with perennial grasses (Hull and Pechanec 1947, Murray 1971).

The seeds become viable shortly after maturity and germinate at high rates (up to 95 percent) in a week under favorable moisture conditions (Hulbert 1955, Hull and Hansen 1974). *Bromus tectorum* is a prolific seed producer and generally produces ample seed to maintain stands even in unfavorable years.

Seedling establishment is favored by presence of plant litter and rough microtopography (Evans and Young 1970, 1972). The root system develops rapidly and has remarkable ability to continue growth under low temperatures. It continues to develop over winter while aerial growth is dormant (Harris 1967, 1970). The roots reach depths of 1 m (39 inch) or more, with laterals extending as much as 30 cm (12 inch) (Hulbert 1955, Hironaka 1961). Total soil moisture utilization is lower, however, than for comparable sites dominated by *Artemisia tridentata* and *A. spicatum* (Cline et al. 1977a).

Cheatgrass is palatable in its earlier growth stages. It appears to be less affected by clipping than many of the associated perennial grasses. Flemming et al. (1942) and Hulbert (1955) found that plants clipped in the sheath or flowering stages produced new inflorescences in a few weeks, although herbage production was much reduced.

Due to its early and complete drying and fine structure, *B. tectorum* is extremely flammable, and the danger of fire is increased enormously on areas dominated by it (Klemmedson and Smith 1964). The majority of wildfires in the sagebrush-grass region occur on areas where cheatgrass is abundant. Since the seeds of this species are usually shed before the fire, reduction of the stand in the following year is generally not great (Billings 1951, Wright et al. 1979). Fires in June were found to cause significant reduction in subsequent stands (Stewart and Hull 1949), but fires are much less frequent so early in the season. The amount of unburned organic matter remaining on the soil is a good index of the potential population following fire (Young et al. 1976).

Bromus tectorum is sensitive to several herbicides, especially when these are applied before or just after seedling emergence (Evans et al. 1970a).

COMMUNITY CHARACTERISTICS

Consideration of community characteristics of the sagebrush region could be interpreted to include an enormous range of information. The present treatment is focused on the natural vegetational aspects of the ecosystems concerned, including their reaction to major disturbance factors, cultivation, fire and grazing. No attempt has been made to cover fully topics such as range manipulation, reseeding, wildlife-livestock relationships or hydrologic relations.

Extent and Stability

The sagebrush-grass ranks as one of the major vegetation regions of western North America and occupies large areas in eastern Oregon and Washington, southern Idaho, northern California, Utah, Nevada, western Montana, Wyoming and Colorado. Smaller outliers of this type occur in northern Arizona and New Mexico, and in southwestern Canada (British Columbia, Alberta and Saskatchewan).

Estimates of the total area occupied have varied greatly, reflecting differences in criteria used and also the lack of a comprehensive survey. An early and widely quoted estimate of 38 M ha (95 M acres) made by the USDA Forest Service is obviously low. Beetle's (1960) estimate of 109 M ha (270 M acres) seems high, and apparently was based on total distribution of the sagebrush species rather than the area in which they occurred (or have occurred) as dominants. The figure of 58 M ha (143 M acres) derived by Branson et al. (1967) from Kuchler's (1964) vegetation map may be closer to the actual area. although West (1979) calculated 69 M ha (170 M acres) for just the Great Basin and Colorado Plateau sections. Kuchler's (1964) delineation of the sagebrush region necessarily represents a compilation of estimates from various sources. A new source now available in the form of satellite imagery should provide a more accurate figure than has been available previously (Hironaka et al. 1976).

In addition to differences concerning the extent of the sagebrush region, there has been disagreement concerning the extent to which its boundaries may have been changed since European settlement. Several authorities including Clements and Clements (1939) and Shantz and Zon (1924) considered that much of the area currently occupied by sagebrush-dominated vegetation was grassland at the time of white settlement. The sagebrush invasion was considered to have been most marked in the northern part of the Intermountain region. For example, Shantz and Zon (1924) in their map of vegetation types show an extensive belt of grassland extending around the southern end of the central mountain mass in Idaho and separating the sagebrush-grass from forest communities. This view of the sagebrush-grass region is still evident in the literature (Weaver and Clements 1938, Stoddart and Smith 1955, Stoddart et al. 1975, Barbour et al. 1980). It was supported by several researchers including Cottam and Stewart

(1940), Stoddart (1941), Cooper (1953), Christensen and Johnson (1964), and Hull and Hull (1974). These studies showed that sagebrush can invade grassland stands on sites where the water table has been lowered by abusive land use. They also indicated that plant communities resembling Pacific Northwest bunchgrass may occur in the foothills of northern Utah. In the latter instance the issue seems partly one of definition, for Christensen's (1963) description of "undisturbed bunchgrass communities" lists *Artemisia tridentata* as second only to *Agropyron spicatum* in foliage cover and constancy.

Basic to the idea of massive sagebrush invasion of grasslands was the well-known fact that most species of sagebrush are considerably less palatable to domestic livestock than are the grasses associated with them (USDA Forest Service 1936). The high susceptibility of most sagebrush species to fire was overlooked or minimized, as was the fact that a sagebrush-grass stand can be converted, at least temporarily, into one that closely resembles true grassland.

In recent years, more intensive studies have led to a different view, namely that the sagebrush-grass region is ecologically stable and that its boundaries closely resemble those which existed at the beginning of settlement by European peoples. This idea is supported by historical records and by studies of existing vegetation. The historical record, contained in the reports of early explorers and travelers (Townsend 1834, Fremont 1845, Watson 1871, Merriam 1890, Wislizenus 1912), portrays the dominance of sagebrush over vast areas of the Intermountain West (Tisdale et al. 1969). Vale's (1975b) review of historical references also supports the view that the boundaries of the sagebrush region were about the same in those early days as they are now. Eggler (1941), from his studies of primary succession on volcanic deposits in southern Idaho, concluded that the regional climax vegetation was sagebrush-grass.

More recent field research has supplied evidence from quantitative studies of sagebrush-grass vegetation, undertaken by a number of investigators beginning in the 1950 s. Study of sites relatively undisturbed by fire, abusive grazing or cultivation, and comparison of these with adjacent disturbed stands have been a basic technique. Research on the soils of the region and their relation to vegetation has also brought new understanding (Anderson 1956, Fosberg and Hironaka 1964, Passey and Hugie 1963a). Publications resulting from vegetational studies of this type include those of Poulton (1955), Blaisdell (1958), Eckert (1958), Marquiss and Lang (1959), Thatcher (1959), Passey and Hugie (1962b), Tisdale et al. (1965, 1969), Daubenmire (1970), Harniss and West (1973), Zamora and Tueller (1973), Young et al. (1977), Hironaka and Fosberg (1979), and Mueggler and Stewart (1980). This research has documented the nature and variety of sagebrush-grass vegetation and indicates that invasion of sagebrush into other plant communities has been relatively uncommon. The opposite kind of change is reported by Poulton (1955) who found areas in northeastern Oregon where repeated burning had reduced the apparent extent of Artemisia-dominated vegetation. It seems likely that reports of "grasslands" in areas now considered part of the sagebrush-grass region were based on similar situations produced by frequent burning and even mowing for hay in the early days of white settlement. Evidence of invasion into sagebrush-grass vegetation in post-settlement time has been reported by several Most widespread has been the increase investigators. of junipers, especially Utah juniper (Juniperus osteosperma) (Christensen and Johnson 1964, Blackburn and Tueller 1970); and western juniper (J. occidentalis), (Burkhardt and Tisdale 1969). Other invaders reported include white fir (Abies concolor) in California (Vale 1975b). Causal factors suggested include overgrazing (Christensen and Johnson 1964, Vale 1975b) and reduction in burning since white settlement (Burkhardt and Tisdale 1976).

In western Montana, however, on the tension zone between the sagebrush-grass and Plains grasslands there seems to be evidence for invasion of sagebrush. Morris et al. (1976) considered many stands dominated by *A. tridentata* subsp. *vaseyana*, and *A. tridentata* subsp. *wyomingensis* to be seral. Overgrazed areas and abandoned fields were the principal areas of sagebrush invasion. Obviously there is need for further study of the successional relationships of sagebrush species, particularly along the borders of the sagebrush region.

Diversity in the Sagebrush-Grass Region

The great variety of vegetation evident today in the sagebrush-grass region is the result of two major influences, natural differences in habitat and disturbances produced by white settlement.

Natural habitat differences within the region are great, ranging from near-desert to subalpine climates and including a wide variety of physiographic and soil types (Tisdale et al. 1969, Hironaka and Fosberg 1979, K. L. Johnson 1979, West 1979). Environmental diversity has resulted in comparable variety in vegetation, notably through the evolution of species, subspecies and varieties of sagebrush adapted to specific habitats (Beetle 1960, Winward and Tisdale 1977, McArthur 1979, McArthur et al. 1979). The result has been the development of a large number of steady state communities, each dominated by a single taxon of sagebrush. These communities differ greatly in their understory vegetation, which usually includes one or more perennial bunchgrasses: Agropyron spicatum, Festuca idahoensis, Poa sandbergii, Stipa thurberiana, S. comata, or Oryzopsis hymenoides. Communities of this kind have been described by many workers including Blackburn et al. (1968, 1969) in Nevada, Thatcher (1959) and Brodahl (1977) in Wyoming, Mueggler and Stewart (1980) in Montana, Tisdale et al. (1965, 1969), Schlatterer (1972) and Hironaka and Fosberg (1979) in Idaho, Eckert (1958) and Tueller (1962) in Oregon, Daubenmire (1970)

al. (1974) in Idaho, Nevada and Utah. The nature of the habitats involved is discussed earlier in this review, under the autecology of individual species.

in Washington, Passev and Hugie (1962b, 1963a), Hugie et

Classification

Classification of sagebrush-grass vegetation has been a relatively recent endeavor because of lack of basic synecological knowledge (Billings 1952). This was evident in the early classification of range types for the purpose of inventory and mapping. While no attempt was made to subdivide the sagebrush range type, three major range types were recognized from the shadscale zone (Interagency Range Survey Committee 1937). This no doubt was the result of early research on salt desert shrub communities (Kearney et al. 1914, Shantz 1925, White 1932, Flowers 1934, Shantz and Piemeisel 1940). Later, the sagebrush type was subdivided on the basis of growth form, i.e., big and low sagebrush (USDA Forest Service 1969).

The range site classification developed by Dyksterhuis (1949) was adopted agency-wide by the USDA Soil Conservation Service (Shiflet 1973) and in recent years by the USDI Bureau of Land Management (1979). This classification scheme is restricted to nonforest landscapes. Although the basis of this classification is the climax or potential vegetation, much emphasis is placed on site productivity in the climax state, and digression in productivity of the climax species is used as an index to the condition of the vegetation. Nomenclature of range site classification is descriptive of site and not vegetation, however.

Although many field guides of climax vegetation of the sagebrush-grass type were produced by the USDA Soil Conservation Service, the lack of basic synecological information prevented uniform interpretation and application of the range site classification. To overcome this obstacle, a special soil-vegetation team was assigned to identify, classify and describe climax sagebrush-grass communities and their soils (Passey and Hugie 1962a, 1962b, 1963a, 1963b, Hugie et al. 1964, Passey et al. 1964, Hugie et al. 1974). Much of today's range site classification of sagebrush-grass vegetation is based on their findings.

The use of climax vegetation is also the basis of the habitat type classification developed by Daubenmire (1952). Although this classification was developed for forest vegetation, it soon became evident that it was equally applicable to nonforest types. The habitat type classification is a land classification that utilizes the climax vegetation as an expression of the total effective environment. It is defined as the aggregate area that supports or until recent time supported a particular plant association (climax plant community, *sensu* Daubenmire 1952) and is capable of again supporting the same plant association.

Classifications that pertain to the sagebrush-grass vegetation based on the habitat type concept, although not adhering strictly to the discrete community concept (Daubenmire 1966), have been developed for a number of areas in the Pacific Northwest (Eckert 1957, Culver 1964, Smith 1969, Hall 1967, Daubenmire 1970, McLean 1970, Winward 1970, Zamora and Tueller 1973, Lewis 1975, Brodahl 1977, Young et al. 1977, Hironaka 1979, Hironaka and Fosberg 1979, Erhard 1980, Mueggler and Stewart 1980). Tisdale's (1947) work was a forerunner to the development of the habitat type classification.

Recognition of subspecies within Artemisia tridentata (Beetle 1960, Beetle and Young 1965) was a major contribution in development of sound habitat type classification for sagebrush-grass vegetation. Prior to the recognition of subspecies of Artemisia tridentata, the species was credited with a distributional range from 800 to 10,000 ft in elevation within an 8- to 22-inch precipitation zone. This made it extremely difficult to explain the presence of the same habitat type over such a wide range of environmental conditions.

The habitat type is generally named after the unique combination of dominants or characteristic species in the overstory and understory, distinguishing it from other habitat types. This is not the case with the naming of range sites.

Because the range site and habitat type classification systems are both based on climax vegetation, the two systems are related. The habitat type classification emphasizes the similarity of climax species composition over the landscape, placing variability as secondary in importance. The range site classification considers the importance of productivity equal to species composition. Thus, two stands of essentially the same climax composition may be assigned to different range sites, if their productivity is deemed significantly different. The habitat type may include more than a single range site, whereas the contrary is not true. The range site may be likened to a "phase" of a habitat type. The difficulty with the "phase" subdivision is that it has not been specifically defined. It is generally understood to be a variant of the habitat type and is often identified by the presence or absence of one or few diagnostic species (Hall 1967, Culver 1964, Daubenmire 1970, Pfister et al. 1977, Mueggler and Stewart 1980) and/or soil differences.

A classification of climax communities (habitat type or range sites) is essential as a reference base, but is of limited value by itself because relatively few examples of climax stands remain in most sagebrush communities. What is needed is a classification of disturbed communities associated with each habitat type for maximum utility. If the habitat type and its attendant seral communities were known, this would provide the basic framework of a sound, usable information storage and retrieval system for land management purposes (Hironaka and Fosberg 1979, Huschle and Hironaka 1980). Information on seral communities within their respective habitat types could be accumulated and retrieved in terms of response to management, hazards, improvement, etc., in relation to management objectives. It would be a continuing activity with new information added or updated and accessed by community type within habitat type. A scheme of this sort would greatly extend use of vegetational classification information.

Effects of Disturbance

Superimposed on the natural diversity of sagebrushgrass vegetation are changes produced by disturbances resulting from cultivation, fire, herbicides, excessive grazing, insect attacks, etc. The combined effects of disturbance and natural variability have brought about great changes in botanical composition and productivity of the native communities.

Since the beginning of European settlement, the abundance of many native species has been drastically reduced, and a number of alien species, mostly annuals, have invaded the region (Tisdale et al. 1969, Young and Evans 1970, 1973; Young et al. 1972, 1979). The vegetation of the region appears to have been altered more in the past 100 years than in the previous thousand (Davis et al. 1977).

Changes resulting from the action of disturbance factors have received considerable study, but due to the variability of these factors, and their frequent interaction, interpretation of results is often difficult. A further difficulty arises from the fact that the plant communities under study have often been described inadequately, and not identified to habitat type (Poulton and Tisdale 1961). The various types of disturbance are considered here in terms of their relative effects in changing the composition and decreasing the stability of the natural sagebrush-grass vegetation.

CULTIVATION

Cultivation is the most drastic of these disturbances. and when continued it eliminates native vegetation completely. Lands once cultivated may later be abandoned, and secondary succession allowed to operate. The principal studies of this process in the sagebrush-grass region are those of Piemeisel (1938, 1945, 1951) in south central Idaho. He traced the succession from annual forbs to domination by Bromus tectorum and then to the gradual recovery of perennials, chiefly Artemisia tridentata wyomingensis and Sitanion hystrix. Hironaka and Tisdale (1963) continued this research and documented the slow return of the two climax grasses, Stipa thurberiana and Poa sandbergii. The latter species increased in peripheral fashion on the site, indicating limited means of seed dispersal. With Stipa thurberiana the difficulty lay in seedling establishment in competition with Bromus tectorum, a situation similar to that reported for *Agropyron spicatum* (Harris 1967). Apparently the complete recovery of a cultivated area is likely to require a half century or more, at least in the xeric type noted above. A minimum of 40 years is required for reestablishment of sagebrush communities on abandoned crop land in eastern Wyoming (K. L. Johnson 1979).

FIRE

Fire, in contrast to cultivation, is a highly selective agent in sagebrush vegetation. The common species of sagebrush, with the exception of Artemisia cana and A. tripartita, are readily killed by fire, while many of the understory species and some associated shrubs are relatively resistant. The result of burning a sagebrush-grass community in good range condition is to greatly decrease the amount of sagebrush and to increase most of the understory species plus Chrysothamnus and a few other shrubs (Blaisdell 1953, Mueggler and Blaisdell 1958). The effect on understory species is not uniform, for these authors showed that Agropyron spicatum, A. dasystachyum and other coarse grasses were relatively unharmed by burning, while finer species including Festuca idahoensis and some species of Poa showed a reduction of yield 12 to 15 years after burning. A long-term (30-year) evaluation of this study by Harniss and Murray (1973) showed that sagebrush (A. tridentata vaseyana) had increased to pre-burn cover, while Chrysothamnus viscidiflorus, which increased after burning, had returned to its low, pre-burn population. Yields of the coarser grasses had declined from their postburn maximum, but were still as high as before the burn. Idaho fescue and other fine grasses, along with the fire sensitive forbs, had finally returned to pre-burn levels.

The above case illustrates the results of fire on a relatively pristine stand which was grazed carefully after fire. Similar results probably followed from fires in presettlement days, although we do not know much about the incidence of fire in this period. The fact that most sagebrush species are sensitive to fire and that the early explorers found sagebrush abundant in the region (Tisdale et al. 1969, Vale 1975a) suggests that fire was infrequent. On the other hand, Burkhardt and Tisdale (1976) have shown that fire in the sagebrush-grass of the Owyhee foothills in Idaho kept western juniper (Juniperus occidentalis) confined to relatively bare, rocky sites until white settlement reduced burning. It is likely that fire was uncommon in the drier sagebrush types but more frequent in the more mesic communities where the fuel supply would be greater. Houston (1973) estimated that fire frequency in Artemisia vasevana communities in Yellowstone National Park was 20 to 25 years. Referring to drier parts of the sagebrush region, Wright et al. (1979) theorize that the probable fire frequency would be about 50 years. Griffiths (1902) reported many range fires set by "nomadic sheepmen" in high elevation sagebrush ranges in northern Nevada and southeastern Oregon.

The effects of fire since white settlement must be considered along with those of heavy grazing. The latter was prevalent over most of the region from the late 1800s to the 1930s or later, and greatly influenced the effects of fire. The combination of fire and overgrazing greatly reduced the population of both sagebrush and the understory species of grasses and the more palatable forbs. The affected areas were thus opened to invasion by various aggressive, less palatable species, especially the introduced Bromus tectorum (Pickford 1932, Stewart and Hull 1949). This annual grass is highly flammable, and its presence greatly increased the incidence of wildfire in the sagebrush region (Klemmedson and Smith 1964). The result has been the domination of several million acres of the region by B. tectorum, with Chrysothamnus the only remaining shrub in most cases. Plant succession on depleted sites may be seriously affected if significant soil erosion occurs following fire (Hinds and Sauer 1975).

GRAZING

The effects of grazing on sagebrush vegetation are primarily those produced by introduced livestock. The post-Pleistocene population of native ungulates was limited, with the American bison and pronghorn antelope the only common large ungulates. Total wildlife grazing pressure appears to have been light compared with that which occurred on the Great Plains grasslands (Merriam 1926, Butler 1976). The sagebrush region was not adapted for concentrations of large herbivores such as occurred with European settlement.

Since most of the herbaceous species are more palatable than sagebrush, especially during the growing season, the former were reduced while the shrubs flourished. The result was a dense and vigorous stand of sagebrush with a relatively sparse understory of annuals andunpalatable perennials (Ellison 1960, Tisdale et al. 1969). Historically, this condition was reached fairly early (Kennedy and Doten 1901), and by the 1930 s, federal range personnel estimated that 84 percent of the region was severely depleted (USDA Forest Service 1936). The accuracy of this figure is questionable in light of the state of ecological knowledge at the time, but there seems no doubt that major changes had occurred due to grazing (Cottam and Stewart 1940).

The reaction of any particular area of sagebrush range to grazing will vary with a number of factors, including intensity and season of use, kind of livestock and type of vegetation. In eastern Idaho, heavy spring grazing by sheep reduced the yield of palatable grasses and forbs and increased that of sagebrush. Heavy grazing in the fall had an opposite effect, improving the herbaceous cover at the expense of the sagebrush (Mueggler 1950, Laycock 1967, 1970). In eastern Oregon, Hyder and Sawyer (1951) found that continuous grazing by cattle at a moderate rate was better for the forage species than rotational grazing. The latter was conducted as a two-field system in which each field was exposed to heavy spring use two years out of six. The "spring" season included almost the entire growing season for this type of vegetation and provided no opportunity for regrowth after heavy use. The effects of more realistic and flexible grazing systems, including rest-rotation (Hormay and Talbot 1961) have not yet been documented for sagebrush-grass vegetation, but observation indicates that these are often superior to continuous grazing. Badly depleted sagebrush ranges require measures other than changes in grazing or rest, however, if rehabilitation is to be achieved in a reasonably short time (Young et al. 1979).

An important phase of the grazing influence in the sagebrush region is the actual amount of use of the sagebrush species themselves. It is generally recognized that sagebrush provides important habitat for many species of wildlife, although only a few such as the sage grouse (Centrocercus urophasianus) and pygmy rabbit (Brachylagus idahoensis) are wholly dependent on it (Patterson 1952, Green and Flinders 1980). In the case of the currently common large ungulates of the region, mainly mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus) and pronghorn antelope (Antilocapra americana), sagebrush is recognized as an important source of browse, especially in winter (Taylor 1972, McAdoo and Klebenow 1979, Nagy 1979). Use of sagebrush by domestic livestock is considered to be less than for wildlife, but A. nova is important for sheep on winter ranges (Hutchings 1954) and sheep in southeastern Idaho used considerable amounts of A. tridentata and A. tripartita under conditions of heavy stocking in the fall (Laycock 1967).

Questions of palatability and nutritive value naturally arise in view of such relatively limited use of an abundant food source. A number of feeding studies, as well as observations under less controlled situations have provided some data but results have varied and there is need for further information. Earlier feeding trials indicated that mule deer preference for sagebrush (A. tridentata and A. nova) was not high and that they ate it more readily and fared better nutritionally when a mixed ration was available containing species besides sagebrush (Smith 1950, Smith and Hubbard 1954, Dietz et al. 1962). It has been commonly assumed that low palatability of sagebrush is related to the high content of volatile oils found in these species (Powell 1970), but the evidence is not clearcut. Sheehy (1975) and Scholl et al. (1977) found little relationship between deer preference and presence in sagebrush of eight major volatile compounds. Otherwise, sagebrush rates well as winter browse, with a higher protein content than most associated shrubs and fair digestibility (Dietz et al. 1962, Gibbs 1978). Some investigations have suggested that the volatile oils of sagebrush may inhibit digestion by antimicrobial activity in the rumen (Nagy et al. 1964, Nagy 1979, Oh et al. 1968). Other trials, however, show no such effect (Welch and McArthur 1979). Johnson et al. (1976) reported toxic effects in sheep when Artemisia tridentata was suddenly fed in large amounts (.75 lb daily), but no harmful effects when the initial dosage was small (.25 lb) and increased gradually.

Whatever the causal factor, it appears that the palatability of sagebrush varied by species, subspecies, local populations and even individual plants (Nagy 1979, Welch and McArthur 1979). Recent studies which recognize the significance of identification to subspecies and also consider population variability have been helpful in determining such differences. Sheehy (1975) tested the relative palatability of seven sagebrush taxa to mule deer and domestic sheep. The deer took sagebrush more readily than did the sheep; the latter required initial withholding of other feed to get them started on sagebrush. The deer showed definite preferences, however, with A. arbuscula, A. tridentata vaseyana and A. cana bolanderi in the top group; A. tridentata tridentata and A. tridentata wyomingensis second; and A. nova the least preferred. Sheep showed substantially different preference with A. arbuscula first; A. nova second; A. tridentata vaseyana and A. cana bolanderi third; and A. tridentata tridentata and A. tridentata wyomingensis last. Differences in preference with populations of sagebrush taxa have also been shown (Smith 1950, Hanks et al. 1973, 1975, Welch and McArthur 1979). Comparable detailed tests with cattle are not available but observations on the range indicate considerable differences among sagebrush taxa with at least some populations of A. tridentata wyomingensis utilized more than other subspecies of A. tridentata (Winward 1970, Brunner 1972). It is apparent that more investigation into the palatability and nutritive value of sagebrush is needed. It also may be possible to develop strains more palatable than those occurring naturally (Plummer 1974, Welch and McArthur 1979).

In total, it appears that use of sagebrush by wildlife and livestock combined is light, with localized exceptions, and is made mainly during the winter season. Thus, the impact of grazing on sagebrush is minimal, especially in relation to that of most associated herbaceous species.

Another possible effect of the high content of terpenoids (Kelsey et al. 1976) or other secondary compounds in sagebrush is that of inhibiting the germination and growth of other plant species. Aqueous extracts and volatile exudates of sagebrush leaves have been shown to inhibit germination and seedling growth of several associated species (Schlatterer and Tisdale 1969, Klarich and Weaver 1973, Weaver and Klarich 1977, Hoffman and Hazlett 1977). These results have all been obtained under greenhouse or laboratory conditions, however, and definite proof of such effects under field conditions has not been shown. Field observation indicates strong competitive ability against most herbaceous species, especially when the stand of sagebrush has become more dense and vigorous than normal. This effect may be due largely to the efficient root system of sagebrush and its ability to utilize moisture over a longer season than that of most herbaceous species. In any event, allelopathic influences remain a possibility and merit further field oriented research (Caldwell 1979).

The relationship of sagebrush to the herbaceous component of communities in this region has not received

much detailed study. The use of fire, herbicides, etc., is based on the premise that strong competition does exist and that herbaceous species will benefit from a reduction in the shrub stand (Blaisdell 1953, Blaisdell and Mueggler 1956b, and many others). In most of these cases, however, the natural balance between shrubs and herbaceous species had already been disturbed and the shrub cover had become much greater than in the pristine condition. Most direct studies of competition have been in connection with range reseeding and have involved sagebrush and introduced grass species, especially crested wheatgrass (Agropyron desertorum) and related species (Robertson 1947, Hull and Klomp 1974, Rittenhouse and Sneva 1976). These studies showed a negative relationship between the stand of sagebrush and the establishment and yield of seeded species. Blaisdell (1949) showed that degree of competition between seedlings and young plants of sagebrush and perennial grasses depended largely on their relative ages. The older the stand of sagebrush, the less chance there was for successful establishment and production of grass. Both the introduced crested wheatgrass and the native bluebunch wheatgrass responded in this manner. Tisdale et al. (1969) showed a negative relationship between Wyoming big sagebrush cover and native grass cover and yield on a stand dominated by Sitanion hystrix instead of the climax dominant, Stipa thurberiana. Daubenmire (1970) stresses the complementary nature of sagebrush and herbaceous root systems and patterns of activity in the sagebrush region of Washington, but offers no experimental evidence regarding the degree of competition. Evidently, there is need for further investigation of the shrub-herb relationship in sagebrush vegetation.

The reaction of grass species of the region to grazing was discussed earlier. Briefly, the climax grasses, Agropyron spicatum, Festuca idahoensis, Stipa thurberiana, and often S. comata are recognized as decreasers under heavy use. Poa sandbergii and Sitanion hystrix act as increasers, but also decline with prolonged overuse (Tisdale et al. 1969, Mueggler and Stewart 1980). Recovery from a depleted condition can occur, but tends to be very slow when a dense cover of sagebrush is present. Use by wildlife, especially rodents and rabbits may be sufficient to prevent recovery of perennial grasses and palatable forbs even when livestock grazing is excluded (Piemeisel 1945). Even on ranges in better condition, rabbits (Sylvilagus and Lepus spp.) can be an important influence on the herbaceous vegetation during periods of peak populations (M. Johnson 1979, McAdoo and Klebenow 1979). Use of herbaceous species by native ungulates, especially mule deer, is generally heaviest in the spring (Kufeld et al. 1973, Willms et al. 1979), and can also be an inhibiting factor on range recovery.

The extent of changes brought about by heavy grazing, fire, etc., have led some investigators to consider these changes as irreversible, and the pre-settlement sagebrush ecosystem to be essentially extinct (Young et al. 1979). This conclusion seems premature at least and fails

to take into account large areas in the region where native perennials still dominate the understory and where sagebrush density has not become extreme. The need for rapid improvement of many of the most depleted areas does not negate the fact that natural improvement can occur. Improvement is likely to be slow, however, especially on drier sites and in the lower range condition classes (McLean and Tisdale 1972). Robertson (1971) has reported changes on a depleted area in Nevada ungrazed for 30 years. The cover of Stipa thurberiana increased sevenfold; Agropyron spicatum reestablished itself on favored spots; Sitanion hystrix nearly trebled in amount; and perennial forbs increased by 85 percent during this period. Piemeisel (1938, 1951) and Hironaka and Tisdale (1963) have documented comparable changes over a 25-year period in southern Idaho. More rational grazing management in the future plus a reduction in grazing pressure made possible by forage produced by artificial rehabilitation of the most depleted stands could bring about natural improvement in much of the vast sagebrush region.

HERBICIDES

The application of herbicides represents another selective disturbance of sagebrush-grass vegetation, since the chemicals used are designed to kill most species of sagebrush and to leave the associated perennial grasses unharmed. The effects are somewhat like those of fire, except that the herbicides tend to damage all broad-leaved plants, including palatable shrubs and forbs.

The shrub, Amelanchier alnifolia, and forbs such as Balsamorhiza sagittata, Astragalus spp., Helianthella uniflora and Mertensia oblongifolia were severely damaged in a study in eastern Idaho (Blaisdell and Mueggler 1956b), but Purshia tridentata was little affected. Much more damage to the latter species was found in trials in eastern Oregon (Hyder and Sneva 1962). Miller et al. (1980) report a twofold increase in perennial grass density and yield in stands of mountain big sagebrush treated with 2, 4-D butyl ester. Agropyron spicatum responded better than Festuca idahoensis, and reduction in forb cover was largely confined to one species, Lupinus caudatus.

Herbicide application aimed at partial control of undesirable shrubs and less damage to desirable shrubs and forbs presents one approach, but may lead to increases in shrub density (Evans et al. 1979). Timing of treatment and care in selecting suitable sites are major considerations in the proper use of herbicides on sagebrush-grass vegetation in which significant amounts of desirable shrubs or forbs remain. On areas which have been badly depleted and the understory changed to one of *Bromus tectorum* and other annual weeds, methods of treatment involving the use of paraquat and atrazine have been developed. Paraquat is used to kill annuals just prior to reseeding with perennial forage species, while atrazine is used to create a chemical fallow for a year preceding reseeding (Evans et al. 1979, Eckert et al. 1974). Although the use of herbicides on sagebrush vegetation has been chiefly on *Artemisia tridentata*, Eckert et al. (1972) and Eckert and Evans (1968) showed that similar responses could be obtained in stands of *A. arbuscula*. The principal increase in herbaceous species was among the perennial grasses, with *Poa sandbergii* showing the greatest initial response. Best results were obtained on sites of high potential and in fair range condition.

Fewer studies have been made of the long-term effects of herbicidal treatment. Johnson (1969) in Wyoming found that increased herbage production after spraying big sagebrush lasted only 6 years. Recovery of sagebrush was essentially complete in 14 years on grazed areas and nearly so in 17 years on ungrazed plots. Sneva (1972) in southeastern Oregon reported that herbage production increased more than twice following herbicidal treatment of a big sagebrush-grass range. Recovery of sagebrush was slow during the first decade following treatment, but was approaching pre-treatment amounts in 17 years. Thilenius and Brown (1974) in western Wyoming found increased herbage production to be short-lived, with yields returning to pre-treatment levels in 50 years or less, although big sagebrush cover at this time was still less than half the pre-treatment amount.

Factors influencing rate of sagebrush reestablishment apparently include initial percent mortality, grazing management and local climate, especially the effect of summer drought on establishment of sagebrush seedlings.

REFERENCES CITED

- Alderfer, J.M. 1977. A taxonomic study of bitterbrush (*Purshia tridentata* [Pursh] DC.) in Oregon. MS thesis, Oregon State Univ., Corvallis. 197 pp.
- Allred, B.W. 1941. Grasshoppers and their effect on sagebrush on the Little Powder River in Wyoming and Montana. Ecology 22:387-392.
- Anderson, E.W. 1956. Some soil-plant relationships in eastern Oregon. J. Range Manage. 9:171-175.
- Anderson, L.E. 1966. Cytotaxonomic studies in *Chrysothamnus*. Amer. J. Bot. 53:204-212.
- Barbour, M.G., J.H. Burk, and W.D. Pitts. 1980. Terrestrial plant ecology. Benjamin/Cummings Publishing Co., Inc. 604 pp.
- Bartolome, J.W., and H.F. Heady. 1978. Ages of big sagebrush following brush control. J. Range Manage. 31:403-411.
- Basile, J.V. 1967. An annotated bibliography of bitterbrush (*Purshia tridentata* [Pursh] DC.) USDA Forest Serv. Res. Pap. INT-44. Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta. 22 pp.
- Beetle, A.A. 1959. New names within the section Tridentatae of Artemisia. Rhodora 61:83-86.
 - ——. 1960. A study of sagebrush, the section Tridentatae of Artemisia. Univ. of Wyoming Agr. Exp. Sta. Bull. 368. 83 pp.
 - 1979. Autecology of selected woody sagebrush species.
 Pages 23-25 in The sagebrush ecosystem-a symposium. Utah State Univ., Logan. 251 pp.
- Beetle, A.A., and A. Young. 1965. A third subspecies in the Artemisia tridentata complex. Rhodora 67:405-406.
- Billings, W.D. 1951. Vegetational zonation in the Great Basin of western North America. Union Int. Sci. Biol. Ser. B, No. 9: 101-122.
 - -. 1952. Environmental complex in relation to plant growth and distribution. Quart. Rev. Bot. 27:251-265.

- Blackburn, W.H., and P.T. Tueller. 1970. Pinyon and juniper invasion in black sagebrush communities in east central Nevada. Ecology 51:841-848.
- Blackburn, W.H., P.T. Tueller, and R.E. Eckert. 1968. Vegetation and soils of the Crowley Creek watershed. Agr. Exp. Sta. Univ. of Nevada, Reno in cooperation with USDI Bur. Land Manage. 58 pp.
- Blackburn, W.H., R.E. Eckert, and P.T. Tueller. 1969. Vegetation and soils of the Crane Springs watershed. Agr. Exp. Sta., Univ. of Nevada, Reno, R55. 67 pp.
- Blaisdell, J.P. 1949. Competition between sagebrush seedlings and reseeded grasses. Ecology 30:512-519.
- ———. 1953. Ecological effects of planned burning of sagebrushgrass range on the Upper Snake River Plains. USDA Tech. Bull. 1075. 39 pp.

— 1958. Seasonal development and yield of native plants on the Upper Snake River Plains and their relation to certain climatic factors. USDA Tech. Bull. 1190.

- Blaisdell, J.P., and W.F. Mueggler. 1956a. Sprouting of bitterbrush (Purshia tridentata) following burning or top removal. Ecology 37:365-371.
 - ——. 1956b. Effect of 2,4-D on forbs and shrubs associated with big sagebrush. J. Range Manage. 9:38-40.
 - Blaisdell, J.P., and J.F. Pechanec. 1949. Effects of herbage removal at various dates on vigor of bluebunch wheatgrass and arrowleaf balsamroot. Ecology 30:298-305.
 - Blake, D.H. 1931. Division of the species of beetles of the genus Trirhabda north of Mexico. Proc. U.S. Natl. Mus. 79:1-36.
 - Blauer, A.C., A.P. Plummer, E.D. McArthur, R. Stevens, and B.C. Guinta. 1975. Characteristics and hybridization of important intermountain shrubs. 1:Rose family. USDA Forest Serv. Res. Pap. INT-169. Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta. 35 pp.

- Branson, F.A., R.F. Miller, and I.S. McQueen. 1967. Geographic distribution and factors affecting the distribution of salt desert shrubs in the United States. J. Range Manage. 20: 287-296.
 - . 1976. Moisture relationships in twelve northern desert shrub communities near Travel Junction, Colorado. Ecology 58:1104-1124.
- Brodahl, M.K. 1977. Classification of sagebrush-grass vegetation in the Gros Ventre area, Wyoming. MS thesis, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 126 pp.
- Brunner, J.R. 1972. Observations on Artemisia in Nevada. J. Range Manage. 25:205-208.
- Burkhardt, J.W., and E.W. Tisdale. 1969. Nature and successional status of western juniper vegetation in Idaho. J. Range Manage. 22:264-270.
- . 1976. Causes of juniper invasion in southwestern Idaho. Ecology 57:472-484.
- Butler, B.R. 1976. The evolution of the modern sagebrush-grass steppe biome on the eastern Snake River Plain. Pages 5-39 in R. Elston (ed.). Holocene environmental change in the Great Basin. Nev. Arch. Soc. Res. Pap. No. 6.
- Buwai, M., and M.J. Trlica. 1977. Multiple defoliation effects on herbage yield, vigor and total nonstructural carbohydrates of five range species. J. Range Manage. 30:164-171.
- Caldwell, M.M. 1979. Physiology of sagebrush. Pages 74-85 in The sagebrush ecosystem: a symposium. Utah State Univ., Logan, Utah. 251 pp.
- Callahan, R.R. 1963. Provenance research: investigation of genetic diversity associated with geography. UNASYLVA 18:73-74.
- Campbell, G.S., and G.A. Harris. 1977. Water relations and use patterns for *Artemisia tridentata* Nutt. in wet and dry years. Ecology 58:652-659.
- Chadwick, H.W., and P.D. Dalke. 1965. Plant succession on dune sands in Fremont County, Idaho. Ecology 46:765-780.
- Chapman, S.R., and L.J. Perry. 1973. Taxonomic and agronomic variation in Agropyron spicatum and A. inerme. J. Range Manage. 26:41-43.
- Christensen, E.M. 1963. The foothill bunchgrass vegetation of central Utah. Ecology 44:156-158.
- Christensen, E.M., and H.B. Johnson. 1964. Presettlement vegetation and vegetational change in three valleys in central Utah. Biological Ser., Vol. IV, No. 4.
- Clark, E.C. 1956. The Great Basin tent caterpillar in relation to bitterbrush in California. Calif. Fish and Game 42:131-142.
- Clark, R.C. 1979. Seasonal response of bitterbrush to burning and clipping in eastern Oregon. MS thesis, Oregon State Univ., Corvallis. 109 pp.
- Clark, R.G., and C.M. Britton. 1979. A bibliography of bitterbrush (Purshia tridentata [Pursh] DC.) annotated from 1967-1978. Oregon State Univ. Agr. Exp. Sta. Bull. 640. Corvallis. 18 pp.
- Clary, W.P. 1975. Ecotypic adaptation in Sitanion hystrix. Ecology 56:1407-1415.

- Clements, F.E., and E.S. Clements. 1939. The sagebrush disclimax. Carnegie Inst. Wash. Yearbook 38:139-140.
- Cline, J.F., D.W. Uresk, and W.H. Rickard. 1977a. Comparison of soil water used by a sagebrush-bunchgrass and a cheatgrass community. J. Range Manage. 30:199-201.

—. 1977b. Plants and soils of a sagebrush community on the Hanford Reservation. Northwest Sci. 51:60-70.

- Conrad, C.E., and C.E. Poulton. 1966. Effect of a wildfire on Idaho fescue and bluebunch wheatgrass. J. Range Manage. 19:138-141.
- Cook, C.W., and R.D. Child. 1971. Recovery of desert plants in various states of vigor. J. Range Manage. 24:339-343.
 - Cook, C.W., and L.A. Stoddart. 1960. Physiological responses of big sagebrush to different types of herbage removal. J. Range Manage. 13:14-16.
- / Cooper, H.W. 1953. Amounts of big sagebrush in plant communities near Tensleep, Wyoming, as effected by grazing treatment. Ecology 34:186-189.
- Cottam, W.P., and G. Stewart. 1940. Plant succession as a result of grazing and of meadow desiccation by erosion since settlement in 1862. J. Forest. 38:613-626.
 - Cronquist, A., A.H. Holmgren, N.H. Holmgren, J.L. Reveal, and P.K. Holmgren. 1977. Intermountain flora-vascular plants of the Intermountain West, USA. Vol. 6. The Monocotyledons. Columbia Univ. Press, New York. 584 pp.
 - Culver, R.N. 1964. An ecological reconnaissance of the Artemisia steppe on the east central Owyhee uplands of Oregon. MS thesis, Oregon State Univ., Corvallis.
 - Daubenmire, R.F. 1939. The taxonomy and ecology of Agropyron spicatum and A. inerme. Bull. of the Torrey Bot. Club. 66:327-329.
- Daubenmire, R. 1942. An ecological study of the vegetation of southeastern Washington and adjacent Idaho. Ecol. Monogr. 12:53-79.

 - ———. 1960. An experimental study of variation in the Agropyron spicatum - A. inerme complex. Bot. Gaz. 122:104-108.
 - . 1966. Vegetation: identification of typal communities. Science 151:291-298.
- - 1972. Annual cycles of soil moisture and temperature as related to grass development in the steppe of eastern Washington. Ecology 53:419-424.
- ——. 1975a. Ecology of *Artemisia tridentata* subsp. *tridentata* in the state of Washington. Northwest Sci. 49:24-35.
- ——. 1975b. Plant succession on abandoned fields, and fire influences in a steppe area in southeastern Washington. Northwest Sci. 49:36-48.

- Davis, O.K., D.A. Kolva, and P.J. Mehringer, Jr. 1977. Pollen analysis of Wildcat Lake, Whitman County, Washington: the last 1000 years. Northwest Sci. 51:13-30.
- Dealy, J.E. 1975. Ecology of curlleaf mountain mahogany in Oregon and adjacent areas. Ph.D. diss. Oregon State Univ., Corvallis. 168 pp.
- Depuit, E.J., and M.M. Caldwell. 1973. Seasonal pattern of net photosynthesis of Artemisia tridentata. Amer. J. Bot. 60: 426-435.
 - —. 1975. Gas exchange of three cool semi-desert species in relation to temperature and water stress. J. Ecol. 63:835-858.
- Dewey, D.R. 1960. Salt tolerance of 25 strains of Agropyron. Agron. J. 52:631-663.
- Dewitt, F.P. 1969. Early developmental response to low temperature in Agropyron spicatum. MS thesis, Washington State Univ., Pullman. 49 pp.
- Dietz, D.R., R.H. Udall, and L.E. Yeager. 1962. Differential digestibility of nutrients in bitterbrush, mountain mahogany and big sagebrush by deer. Paper pres. 1st Nat. White-tailed Deer Disease Symp. Proc. 29-36, 39-50. Available through Center for Cont. Ed., Univ. of Georgia, Athens.
- Dina, S.J., and L.G. Klikoff. 1973. Effect of plant moisture stress on carbohydrate and nitrogen content of big sagebrush. J. Range Manage. 26:207-209.
- Duncan, E. 1975. Ecology of curlleaf mountain mahogany in southwestern Montana. MS thesis, Montana State Univ., Bozeman. 87 pp.
- Dyksterhuis, E.J. 1949. Condition and management of range land based on quantitative ecology. J. Range Manage. 2:104-115.
- Eckert, R.E., Jr. 1957. Vegetation-soil relationships in some Artemisia types in northern Harney and Lake counties, Oregon. Ph.D. diss. Oregon State Univ., Corvallis. 208 pp.
- Eckert, R.E. 1958. Vegetation-soil relationships in some Artemisia types in northern Harney and Lake counties. Abstr. J. Range Manage. 11:50.
- Eckert, R.E., Jr., and R.A. Evans. 1968. Chemical control of low sagebrush and associated green rabbitbrush. J. Range Manage. 21:325-328.
- Eckert, R.E., Jr., A.D. Bruner, and G.J. Klomp. 1972. Response of understory species following herbicidal control of low sagebrush. J. Range Manage. 25:280-285.
 - Eckert, R.E., J.E. Asher, M.D. Christensen, and R.A. Evans. 1974. Evaluation of the atrazine-fallow technique for weed control and seedling establishment. J. Range Manage. 27:288-292.
 - Eggler, W. A. 1941. Primary succession of volcanic deposits in southern Idaho. Ecol. Monogr. 3:277-298.
 - Ellison, L. 1960. Influence of grazing on plant succession of rangelands. Bot. Rev. 26:1-78.
 - Erhard, D.H. 1980. Plant communities and habitat types in the Lava Beds National Monument, California. MS thesis, Oregon State Univ., Corvallis. 173 pp.
 - Evans, G.R., and E.W. Tisdale. 1972. Ecological characteristics of Aristida longiseta and Agropyron spicatum in west-central Idaho. Ecology 53:137-142.

- Evans, R.A., and J.A. Young. 1970. Plant litter and establishment of alien annual weed species in rangeland communities. Weed Sci. 18:697-703.
 - —. 1972. Microsite requirements for establishment of annual rangeland weeds. Weed Sci. 20:350-356.
 - 1975. Aerial application of 2,4-D plus Picloram for green rabbitbrush control. J. Range Manage. 28:315-318.
 - —. 1977a. Bitterbrush germination with constant and alternating temperatures. J. Range Manage. 30:30-32.
 - . 1977b. Weed control vegetation systems for big sagebrush downy brome rangelands. J. Range Manage. 30:331-336.
- Evans, R.A., H.R. Holbo, R.E. Eckert, and J.A. Young. 1970a. Functional environment of downy brome communities in relation to weed control and revegetation. Weed Sci. 18: 154-161.
- Evans, R.A., J.A. Young, and R.E. Eckert. 1970b. Herbaceous weed control and revegetation of semi-arid rangelands in western United States. Outlook on Agriculture. USDA and Agr. Exp. Sta., Univ. of Nevada, Reno. 6:60-66.
 - ——. 1979. Use of herbicides as a management tool. Pages 110-116 in The sagebrush ecosystem: a symposium. Utah State Univ., Logan.
- Ferguson, C.W. 1964. Annual rings in big sagebrush. Paper No. 1. Lab. of tree-ring res. Univ. of Ariz. Press. Tucson. 95 pp.
- Ferguson, R.B. 1972. Bitterbrush seedling establishment as influenced by soil moisture and soil surface temperature. J. Range Manage. 35:47-49.
- Ferguson, R.B., M.M. Furniss, and J.V. Basile. 1963. Insects destructive to bitterbrush flowers and seeds in southwestern Idaho. J. Econ. Entomol. 56:459-462.
- Fernandez, O.A., and M.M. Caldwell. 1975. Phenology and dynamics of root growth of three cool semi-desert shrubs under field conditions. J. Ecol. 63:703-714.
- Fillmore, O.O. 1965. The parasitoids of Aroga websterii Clarke in southern Idaho. MS thesis, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 129 pp.
- Fisser, H.G., and R.J. Lavigne. 1961. A leaf-feeding beetle found on threetip sagebrush. J. Range Manage. 14:278-279.
- Fleming, C.E., M.A. Shipley, and M.R. Miller. 1942. Bronco grass (Bromus tectorum) on Nevada ranges. Agr. Exp. Sta. Bull. 159. Univ of Nevada, Reno.
- Flowers, S. 1934. Vegetation of the Great Salt Lake region. Bot. Gaz. 95:353-418.
- Fosberg, M.A. 1964. Characteristics and genesis of patterned ground in Wisconsin time in a chestnut soil of southern Idaho. Soil Sci. 99:30-37.
- Fosberg, M.A., and M. Hironaka. 1964. Soil properties affecting the distribution of big and low sagebrush communities in southern Idaho. Amer. Soc. Agron. Spec. Publ. 5:230-236.
- Fremont, J.C. 1845. The exploring expedition to the Rocky Mountains, Oregon and California. Derby, Orton and Mulligan. Buffalo, NY, 1853.

- Frischknecht, N.C. 1963. Contrasting effects of big sagebrush and rubber rabbitbrush on production of crested wheatgrass. J. Range Manage. 16:70-74.
- Frischknecht, N.C., and M.F. Baker. 1972. Voles can improve sagebrush rangelands. J. Range Manage. 25:466-468.
- Fronk, W.D., A.A. Beetle, and D.G. Fullerton. 1964. Dipterous galls on the *Artemisia tridentata* complex and insects associated with them. Entomol. Soc. Amer. Ann. 57:575-577.
- Furniss, M.M., and W.F. Barr. 1975. Insects affecting important native shrubs of the northwestern United States. USDA Forest Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. INT-19. Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta. 64 pp.
- Garrison, G.A. 1953. Effects of clipping on some range shrubs. J. Range Manage. 6:309-317.
- Gates, D.H. 1964. Sagebrush infested by leaf defoliation moth. J. Range Manage, 17:209-310.
- Gibbs, H.D. 1978. Nutritive content of some browse species in the Piceance Basin of Colorado. M.S. thesis, Colorado State Univ., Fort Collins.
- Gifford, C.F., F.E. Busby, and J.K. Shaw (eds.). 1979. The sagebrush ecosystem-a symposium. Utah State Univ. Press, Logan, Utah. 51 pp.
- Gipe, D. 1976. Response of range to burning. Tall Timbers Fire Ecol. Conf. 15:25-31.
- Goodwin, D.L. 1956. Autecological studies of Artemisia tridentata Nutt. Ph.D. diss. Washington State Univ., Pullman. 79 pp.
- Green, J.S., and J.T. Flinders. 1980. Habitat and dietary relationships of the pygmy rabbit, J. Range Manage. 33:136-142.
- Griffiths, D. 1902. Forage conditions on the northern border of the Great Basin. USDA Bur. Plant Industry Bull. 15.
- Hall, F.C. 1967. Vegetation-soil relations as a basis for resource management on the Ochoco National Forest of central Oregon, Ph.D. diss. Oregon State Univ., Corvallis. 199 pp.
- Hall, H.M., and F.E. Clements. 1923. The phylogenetic method in taxonomy. Carnegie Inst. Wash. Publ. No. 326:1-156.
- Hanks, D.L., and K.R. Jorgensen. 1973. Chromatographic identification of big sagebrush seed. J. Range Manage. 26:304.
- Hanks, D.L., J.R. Brunner, D.R. Christensen, and A.P. Plummer. 1971. Paper chromatography for determining palatability differences in various strains of big sagebrush, USDA Forest Serv. Res. Pap. INT-101, Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta. 9 pp.
- Hanks, D.L., E.D. McArthur, R. Stevens, and A.P. Plummer. 1973.
 Chromatographic characteristics and phylogenetic relationships of *Artemisia*, section Tridentatae, USDA Forest Serv.
 Res. Pap. INT-141. Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta.
 Ogden, Utah. 24 pp.
- Hanks, D.L., E.D. McArthur, A.P. Plummer, B.G. Guinta, and A.C. Blauer. 1975. Chromatographic recognition of some palatable and unpalatable subspecies of rubber rabbitbrush in and around Utah. J. Range Manage. 28:144-148.
- Hanson, W.R., and L.A. Stoddart. 1940. Effects of grazing upon bunch wheatgrass. Amer. Soc. Agron. J. 32:278-289.

- Harniss, R.O., and W.T. McDonough. 1975. Seedling growth of three big sagebrush subspecies under controlled temperature regimes. J. Range Manage. 28:243-244.
- ———. 1976. Yearly variation in germination in three subspecies of big sagebrush. J. Range Manage. 29:167-168.
- Harniss, R.O., and R.B. Murray. 1973. 30 years of vegetal change following burning of sagebrush-grass range. J. Range Manage. 26:322-325.
 - Harniss, R.O., and N.E. West. 1973. Vegetation patterns of the National Reactor Testing Station, southeastern Idaho. Northwest Sci. 47:30-43.
 - Harris, G.A. 1967. Some competitive relationships between Agropyron spicatum and Bromus tectorum. Ecological Monogr. 37:89-111.
 - ——. 1970. Competition for moisture among seedlings of annual and perennial grasses as influenced by root elongation at low temperature. Ecology 51:529-534.
 - ———. 1977. Root phenology as a factor in competition among grass seedlings. 1977. J. Range Manage. 30:172-176.
- Hazlett, D.L., and G.R. Hoffman. 1975. Plant species distributional patterns in Artemisia tridentata and A. cana dominated vegetation in western North Dakota. Bot. Gaz. 136:72-77.
- Hemmer, D.M. 1975. Serviceberry: ecology, distribution and relationship to big game. MS thesis. Univ. of Montana, Missoula. 75 pp.
- Henry, J.H. 1961. Biology of the sagebrush defoliator Aroga websterii Clarks in Idaho. MS thesis, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 58 pp.
- Hinds, W.T., and R.H. Sauer. 1975. Soil erodibility, soil erosion, and revegetation following wildfire in a shrub-steppe community. Proceedings of a symposium on Atmosphere Surface Exchange of Particulate and Gaseous Pollutants held at Richland, Wash.
- Hironaka, M. 1961. The relative rate of root development of cheatgrass and medusahead. J. Range Manage. 14:263-268.
 - 1963. Plant environment relations of major species in sagebrush-grass vegetation of southern Idaho. Ph.D. diss., Univ. of Wisconsin, Madison.
 - 1979. Basic synecological relationships of the Columbia River sagebrush type. Pages 27-32 in The sagebrush ecosystem—a symposium. Utah State Univ., Logan. 251 pp.
- Hironaka, M., and M.A. Fosberg. 1979. Nonforest habitat types of southern Idaho. Interim report. Forest, Wildl. and Range Exp. Sta., Univ. of Idaho. Mimeo. 100 pp. plus appendices.
 - Hironaka, M., and B.W. Sindelar. 1973. Reproductive success of squirreltail in medusahead infested ranges. J. Range Manage. 26:219-221.
 - —. 1975. Growth characteristics of squirreltail seedlings in competition with medusahead. J. Range Manage. 28:283-285.
 - Hironaka, M., and E.W. Tisdale. 1963. Secondary succession in annual vegetation in southern Idaho. Ecology 44:810-812.
 - —. 1972. Growth and development of *Sitanion hystrix* and *Poa sandbergii*. US/IBP Desert Biome Rep. RM 72-24.

—. 1973. Growth and development of Sitanion hystrix and Poa sandbergii. US/IBP Desert Biome Rep. RM 73-16.

- Hironaka, M., E.W. Tisdale, and M.A. Fosberg. 1976. Use of satelllite imagery for classifying and monitoring rangelands in southern Idaho. Forest, Wildl. and Range Exp. Sta. Bull. 9. Univ. of Idaho. Moscow. 7 pp.
- Hitchcock, A.S., and A. Chase. 1951. Manual of the grasses of the United States. USDA Misc. Pub. 200, Govt. Print. Office, Wash. D.C. 1015 pp.
- Hitchcock, C.L., and A. Cronquist. 1974. Flora of the Pacific Northwest. Univ. of Washington Press. Seattle. 730 pp.
- Hitchcock, C.L., A. Cronquist, M. Ownbey, and J.W. Thompson. 1955-1969. Vascular plants of the Pacific Northwest. Parts 1-5. Univ. of Washington Press. Seattle.
- Hoffman, G.R., and D.L. Hazlett. 1977. Effects of aqueous Artemisia extracts and volatile substances on germination of selected seeds. J. Range Manage. 30:134-137.
- Holbo, H.R., and H.N. Mozingo. 1965. The chromatographic characterization of Artemisia section Tridentatae. Amer. J. Bot. 52:970-978.
- Holmgren, R.C. 1956. Competition between annuals and young bitterbrush (*Purshia tridentata*) in Idaho. Ecology 37:370-378.
- Hormay, A.L. 1943. Bitterbrush in California. USDA Calif. Forest and Range Exp. Sta. Res. Note 34. 13 pp.
- Hormay, A.L., and M.W. Talbot. 1961. Rest-rotation grazing. USDA Forest Serv. Prod. Res. Dep. No. 51.
- Houston, D.B. 1973. Wildfires in northern Yellowstone National Park. Ecology 54:1111-1117.
- Hugie, V.K., H.B. Passey, and E.W. Williams. 1964. Soil taxonomic units and potential plant community relationships in a pristine range area of southern Idaho. Amer. Soc. Agron. Spec. Pub. No. 5:190-205.
- Hugie, V.K., E.W. Williams, H.B. Passey, and D.E. Ball. 1974. Soilvegetation climate relationships. 1958-1970. USDA Soil Conserv. Serv. Mimeo. Rep. 91 pp.
- Hulbert, L.C. 1955. Ecological studies of Bromus tectorum and other annual brome grasses. Ecol. Monogr. 25:181-213.
- Hull, A.C., and W.T. Hansen. 1974. Delayed germination of cheatgrass seed. J. Range Manage. 27:366-368.
- Hull, A.C., and M.K. Hull. 1974. Presettlement vegetation of Cache Valley, Utah and Idaho. J. Range Manage. 27:27-29.
- Hull, A.C., and G.J. Klomp. 1974. Yield of crested wheatgrass under four densities of big sagebrush in southern Idaho. Agr. Res. Ser. USDA Tech. Bull. No. 1483. 37 pp.
- Hull, A.C., and J.F. Pechanec. 1947. Cheatgrass-a challenge to range research. J. Forest 45:554-564.
- Huschle, G., and M. Hironaka. 1980. Classification and ordination of seral plant communities. J. Range Manage. 33:179-183.
- Hutchings, S.S. 1954. Managing winter sheep range for greater profit. USDA Farmers' Bull. No. 2067. 46 pp.

- Hutchings, S.S., and G. Stewart. 1953. Increasing forage yields and sheep production on Intermountain winter ranges. USDA Circ. No. 925.
- Hyder, D.N., and W.A. Sawyer. 1951. Rotation-deferred grazing as compared to season-long grazing on sagebrush-bunchgrass ranges in Oregon. J. Range Manage. 4:30-34.
- Hyder, D.N., and F.A. Sneva. 1962. Selective control of big sagebrush associated with bitterbrush. J. Range Manage. 15:211-215.
- Hyder, D.N., F.A. Sneva, and V.H. Freed. 1962. Susceptibility of big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata) and green rabbitbrush (Chrysothamnus viscidiflorus) to 2,4-D as related to certain environmental, phenological and physiological conditions. Weeds 10:288-395.
- Ibrahim, K.M. 1957. The role of *Bromus tectorum* L. in the invasion of disturbed soil and vegetation. Extrait des Publications de l'Institut du Desert d'Egypte No. 10.
- Interagency Range Survey Committee. 1937. Instructions for range surveys. Interagency Range Survey Conf. April 27. Washington. D.C.
- Johnson, A.E., L.F. James, and J. Spillett. 1976. The abortifacient and toxic effects of big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata) and juniper (Juniperus osteosperma) on domestic sheep. J. Range Manage. 29:278-280.
- Johnson, K.L. 1979. Basic synecological relationships of the sagebrush types on the high plains of Montana, Wyoming, and the Dakotas. Pages 42-49 in The sagebrush ecosystem—a symposium. Utah State Univ. Logan.
- Johnson, M. 1979. Foods of primary consumers on cold desert shrub-steppe of southcentral Idaho. J. Range Manage. 32:365-368.
- Johnson, W.M. 1969. Life expectancy of a sagebrush control in central Wyoming. J. Range Manage. 22:177-182.
- Jones, R.G. 1971. Ecology of gall midges on sagebrush in Idaho. Ph.D. diss., Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 121 pp.
- Kearney, T.H., L.J. Briggs, H.L. Shantz, J.W. McLane, and R.L. Piemeisel. 1914. Indicator significance of vegetation in Tooele Valley, Utah. J. Agr. Res. 1:365-417.
- Kelsey, R.G., and F. Shafizadeh. 1979. Sesquiterpene lactones and systematics of the genus Artemisia. Phytochemistry 18: 1591-1611.
- Kelsey, R.G., M.S. Moriss, and F. Shafizadeh. 1976. The use of sesquiterpene lactones as taxonomic markers in the shrubby species of Artemisia (sec. tridentatae) in Montana. J. Range Manage. 29:502-505.
- Kennedy, P.B., and S.B., Doten. 1901. A preliminary report on the summer ranges of western Nevada sheep. Nevada Agr. Exp. Sta. Bull. 51. 54 pp.
- Klarich, D., and T. Weaver. 1973. Effects of vapors from Artemisia tridentata Nutt. on seed germination. Proc. Montana Acad. Sci. 33:31-36.
- Klebenow, D.A. 1970. Sagegrouse versus sagebrush control in Idaho. J. Range Manage. 23:396-399.
- Klemmedson, J.O., and J.G. Smith. 1964. Cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum L.) Bot. Rev. 30:226-262.

- Kuchler, A.W. 1964. Potential natural vegetation of the coterminous United States. Spec. Pub. No. 36, Amer. Geog. Soc., New York. 116 pp.
- Kufeld, R.C., O.C. Wallmo, and C. Feddema. 1973. Foods of the Rocky Mountain mule deer. USDA Forest Serv. Res. Pap. RM-111. Rocky Mtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta., Fort Collins, Colo. 31 pp.
- Laude, H.M. 1953. The nature of summer dormancy in perennial grasses. The Bot. Gaz. 114:284-293.
- Lauer, J.L., and J.M. Peek. 1976. Big game-livestock relationships on the bighorn sheep winter range, East Fork Salmon River, Idaho. Forest, Wildl., and Range Exp. Sta. Bull. 12. Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 44 pp.
- Laycock, W.A. 1967. How heavy grazing and protection affect sagebrush-grass ranges. J. Range Manage. 20:206-213.

- Laycock, W.A., and T.A. Phillips. 1968. Long term effects of 2,4-D on lanceleaf rabbitbrush and associated species. J. Range Manage. 21:90-93.
- Lewis, M.E. 1975. Flora and major communities of the Ruby-East Humboldt Mountains with special emphasis on Lamoille Canyon. Humboldt National Forest, Region 4, USDA Forest Serv. Mimeo. 62 pp.
- Lunt, O.R., J. Letey, and S.B. Clark. 1973. Oxygen requirements for root growth in three species of desert shrubs. Ecology 54:1356-1362.
- Marchand, L.S., A. McLean, and E.W. Tisdale. 1966. Uniform garden studies on the Artemisia tridentata Nutt. complex in interior British Columbia. Can. J. Bot. 44:1623-1632.
- Marquiss, R., and R. Lang. 1959. Vegetational composition and ground cover of two natural relict areas and their associated grazed areas in the Red Desert of Wyoming. J. Range Manage. 12:104-109.
- Massey, C.A., and D.A. Pierce. 1960. Trirhabda nitidicollis, a pest of rabbitbrush in New Mexico. J. Range Manage. 13:216-217.
- McAdoo, J.K., and D.A. Klebenow. 1979. Native faunal relationships in sagebrush ecosystems. Pages 50-61 *in* The sagebrush ecosystem-a symposium. Utah State Univ., Logan.
- McArthur, E.D. 1979. Sagebrush systematics and evolution. Pages 14-22 in The sagebrush ecosystem-a symposium. Utah State Univ., Logan.
- McArthur, E.D., and A.P. Plummer. 1978. Biogeography and management of native western shrubs: a case study, section Tridentatae of Artemisia. Harper, K.T., and J.L. Reveal (eds.). Pages 229-243 in Proc. Intermtn. Biogeography Symp. Great Basin Nat. Memoirs No. 2. Brigham Young Univ. Press. Provo, Utah.
- McArthur, E.D., and B.L. Welch. 1978. Growth rates of Artemisia tridentata subspecies. Pages 26-27 in Abstr., 31st Annu. Meet. Soc. Range Manage. Denver, Colo.
- McArthur, E.D., A.C. Blauer, A.D.Plummer, and R. Stevens. 1979. Characteristics and hybridization of important intermountain shrubs. III. Sunflower family. USDA Forest Serv. Res. Pap. INT. Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta., Ogden, Utah.

- McArthur, E.D., D.L. Hanks, A.P. Plummer, and A.C. Blauer. 1978. Contributions to the taxonomy of *Chrysothamnus viscidiflorus* and other *Chrysothamnus* species using paper chromatography. J. Range Manage. 31:216-223.
- McConnell, B.R., and J.G. Smith. 1977. Influence of grazing on ageyield in bitterbrush. J. Range Manage. 30:91-93.
- McDonough, W.T., and R.O. Harniss. 1974a. Seed dormancy in Artemisia tridentata Nutt. subspecies vaseyana Rydb. Northwest Sci. 48:17-20.
 - —. 1974b. Effects of temperature on germination in three subspecies of big sagebrush. J. Range Manage. 27:204-205.
- McKell, C.M., and W.W. Chilcote. 1957. Response of rabbitbrush following removal of competing vegetation. J. Range Manage. 10:228-230.
- McLean, A. 1970. Plant communities of the Similkameen Valley, British Columbia, and their relationships to soils. Ecol. Monogr. 40:403-424.
- McLean, A., and E.W. Tisdale. 1972. Recovery rate of depleted range sites under protection from grazing. J. Range Manage. 25:178-184.
 - Merriam, C.H. 1890. Results of a biological reconnaissance of southcentral Idaho. USDA Div. Ornithology and Mammalogy, N.A. Fauna No. 5.
 - ———. 1926. The buffalo in northeastern California. J. Mammal. 7:211-214.
 - Miller, R.F., R.R. Findley, and J. Alderfer-Findley. 1980. Changes in mountain big sagebrush habitat types following spray release. J. Range Manage. 33:278-282.
 - Mohan, J.A. 1973. Fourteen years of rabbitbrush control in central r Oregon. J. Range Manage. 26:448-451.
- Monsen, S.B., and D.R. Christensen. 1975. Woody plants for rehabilitating rangelands in the Intermountain region. Pages 72-119 in Proc. Symp. Wildland Shrubs. Provo, Utah.
 - Morris, M.S., R.G. Kelsey, and D. Griggs. 1976. The geographic and ecological distribution of big sagebrush and other woody *Artemisias* in Montana. Montana Acad. Sci. Proc. 36:56-79.
 - Morris, M.S., J.E. Schmautz, and P.F. Stickney. 1962. Winter field key to the native shrubs of Montana. Montana Forest and Conserv. Exp. Sta. and USDA Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta. Bull. 23. 70 pp.
 - Mueggler, W.F. 1950. Effects of spring and fall grazing by sheep on vegetation of the upper Snake River Plains. J. Range Manage. 3:308-315.
 - 1956. Is sagebrush seed residual in the soil of burns or is it wind-borne? Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta. Res. Note No. 35. 10 pp.
 - ——. 1967. Voles damage big sagebrush in southwestern Montana. J. Range Manage. 20:88-91.
 - 1972a. Plant development and yield on mountain grasslands in southwestern Montana, USDA Forest Serv. Res. Pap. INT-124, illus. Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta., Ogden, Utah. 20 pp.
 - —. 1972b. Influence of competition on response of bluebunch wheatgrass to clipping, J. Range Manage. 25:88-92.

— 1975. Rate and pattern of vigor recovery in Idaho fescue and bluebunch wheatgrass. J. Range Manage. 28:198-204.

- Mueggler, W.F., and J.P. Blaisdell. 1958. Effects on associated species of burning, rotobeating, spraying, and railing sagebrush. J. Range Manage. 11:61-66.
- Mueggler, W.F., and W.L. Stewart. 1980. Grassland and shrubland habitat types of western Montana. USDA Forest Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. INT-66. Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta. Ogden, Utah. 154 pp.
- Murray, R.B. 1971. Grazing capacity, sheep gains: cheatgrass, bunchgrass ranges in southern Idaho. J. Range Manage. 24: 407410.
- Nagy, J.G. 1979. Wildlife nutrition and the sagebrush ecosystem. Pages 164-168 in The sagebrush ecosystem—a symposium. Utah State Univ., Logan.
- Nagy, J.G., H.W. Steinoff, and G.M. Ward. 1964. Effect of essential oils of sagebrush on deer rumen. Microbial function. J. Wildlife Manage. 28:788-790.
- Nord, E.C. 1965. Autecology of bitterbrush in California. Ecol. Monogr. 35:307-334.
- Oh, H.K., M.B. Jones, and W.M. Longhurst. 1968. Comparison of rumen microbial inhibition resulting from various essential oils isolated from relatively unpalatable plant species. Appl. Micro-biol. 16:39-44.
- Parsons, D.C., L.M. Lavkulich, and A.L. Van Ryswyk. 1971. Soil properties affecting the vegetative composition of *Agropyron* communities at Kamloops, British Columbia. Can. J. Soil Sci. 51:269-276.
- Passey, H.B., and V.K. Hugie. 1962a. Application of soil-climatevegetation relations to soil survey interpretations for rangelands. J. Range Manage, 15:162-166.
 - ——. 1962b. Sagebrush on relict ranges in the Snake River Plains and northern Great Basin. J. Range Manage. 15: 273-277.
- . 1963a. Some plant-soil relationships on an ungrazed range area of southeastern Idaho. J. Range Manage. 16:113-118.
 - . 1963b. Fluctuating herbage production on an ungrazed sierozem soil in Idaho. J. Soil and Water Conserv. 18:8-11.
 - —. 1963c. Variation in bluebunch wheatgrass in relation to environment and geographic location. Ecology 44:158-161.
- Passey, H.B., V.K. Hugie, and E.W. Williams. 1964. Herbage production and composition fluctuations of natural plant communities as related to climate and soil taxonomic units. Amer. Soc. Agron. Spec. Publ. 5:206-221.
- Patterson, R.L. 1952. The sage grouse in Wyoming. Sage Books, Inc. Denver, Colo. 341 pp.
- Payne, G.F. 1957. Some germination studies of Artemisia tridentata. Proc. Montana Acad. of Sci. 17:41-42.
- Pearson, L.C. 1965. Primary production in grazed and ungrazed desert communities of eastern Idaho. Ecology 46:278-285.
 - —. 1975. Daily and seasonal patterns of photosynthesis in Artemisia tridentata. J. Idaho Acad. Sci. 11:11-19.

- Pechanec, J.F., A.P. Plummer, J.H. Robertson, and A.C. Hull. 1965. Sagebrush control on rangelands. USDA Agr. Handbook No. 277. 40 pp.
- Pelton, J. 1953. Studies of the life-history of Symphoricarpos occidentalis Hook. in Minnesota. Ecol. Monogr. 23:17-39.
- Peterson, R.A. 1962. Factors affecting resistance to heavy grazing in needle and thread grass. J. Range Manage. 15:183-189.
- Pfister, R.D., B.L. Kovalchik, S.F. Arno, and R.C. Presby. 1977. Forest habitat types of Montana. USDA Forest Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. INT-34. Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta., Ogden, Utah. 174 pp.
- Pickford, G.D. 1932. The influence of continued heavy grazing and of promiscuous burning on spring-fall ranges in Utah. Ecology 13:159-171.
 - Piemeisel, R.L. 1938. Changes in weedy plant cover on cleared sagebrush land and their probable causes. USDA Agr. Tech. Bull. 654.
 - 1945. Natural replacement of weed hosts of the beet leafhopper as affected by rodents. USDA Circular No. 739. 48 pp.
 - ——. 1951. Causes affecting change and rate of change in a vegetation of annuals in Idaho. Ecology 32:53-72.
 - Plummer, A.P. 1971. Selection. Pages 121-126 in Proc. Symposium on wildland shrubs. Utah State Univ., Logan, Utah.
 - . 1974. Morphogenesis and management of woody perennials in the United States. In Plant morphogenesis as the basis for scientific management of range resources. Proc. Workshop US-Australia rangelands panel, Berkeley, Calif. ARS, USDA Misc. Pub. 1271:72-80.
 - Plummer, A.P., D.R. Christensen, and S.B. Monsen. 1968. Restoring big-game range in Utah. Utah Division of Fish and Game Pub. No. 68-3. 183 pp.
 - Pond, F.W. 1960. Vigor of Idaho fescue in relation to different grazing intensities. J. Range Manage. 13:28-30.
 - Poulton, C.E. 1955. The ecology of non-forested vegetation of Umatilla and Morrow Counties, Oregon. Ph.D. diss., Washington State Univ., Pullman. 166 pp.
 - Poulton, C.E., and E.W. Tisdale. 1961. A quantitative method for the description and classification of range vegetation. J. Range Manage. 14:13-21.
 - Powell, J. 1970. Site factor relationships with volatile oils in big sagebrush. J. Range Manage. 23:42-46.
 - Price, R.K. 1965. Uptake of iodine from the soil as related to root distribution and phenology in sagebrush vegetation. Ph.D. diss. Washington State Univ., Pullman. 85 pp.
 - Pringle, W.L. 1960. The effect of a leaf feeding beetle on big sagebrush in British Columbia. J. Range Manage. 13:139-142.
 - Rickard, W.H., D.W. Uresk, and J.R. Cline. 1975. Impact of cattle grazing on three perennial grasses in south-central Washington. J. Range Manage. 28:108-112.
- Rittenhouse, L.R., and F.A. Sneva. 1976. Expressing the competitive relationship between Wyoming big sagebrush and crested wheatgrass. J. Range Manage. 29:326-327.

- Roberts, R.W. 1971. Bittercherry vegetation on the Boise National Forest. MS thesis, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 53 pp.
- Robertson, D.R., J.L. Nielsen, and J.H. Bare. 1966. Vegetation and soils of alkali sagebrush and adjacent big sagebrush ranges in North Park, Colorado. J. Range Manage. 19:17-20.
- Robertson, J.H. 1943. Seasonal root development of sagebrush in relation to range reseeding. Ecology. 24:125-126.
 - . 1947. Responses of range grasses to different intensities of competition with sagebrush (*Artemisia tridentata*). Ecology 28:1-16.
 - —. 1971. Changes on a sagebrush-grass range in Nevada ungrazed for 30 years. J. Range Manage. 24:397-400.
- Robertson, J.H., and H.P. Cords. 1957. Survival of rabbitbrush, *Chrysothamnus* spp. following chemical, burning and mechanical treatments. J. Range Manage. 10:83-89.
- Sabrinski, D.W., and D.H. Knight. 1978. Variation within the sagebrush vegetation of Grand Teton National Park, Wyoming. Northwest Sci. 52:195-204.
- Sampson, A..W., and B.S. Jesperson. 1963. California range brushlands and browse plants. Calif. Agr. Exp. Sta. Ext. Ser. Manual 33. 162 pp.
- Sanderson, H.R. 1962. Survival of rodent cached bitterbrush seed. Pac. Southwest Forest and Range Exp. Sta. Res. Note No. 211, 3 pp.
- Scheldt, R.S. 1969. Mountainmahogany in Idaho. MS thesis, Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 57 pp.
- Scheldt, R.S., and E.W. Tisdale. 1970. Ecology and utilization of curlleaf mountainmahogany in Idaho. Forest, Wildl. and Range Exp. Sta. Note 15. Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 2 pp.
- Schlatterer, E.F. 1972. Plant communities found in the Sawtooth, White Cloud, Boulder and Pioneer Mountains. USDA Forest Serv., Intermtn. Reg. (mimeo) 111 pp.
- Schlatterer, E.F., and E.W. Tisdale. 1969. Effects of litter of Artemisia, Chrysothamnus, and Tortula on germination and growth of three perennial grasses. Ecology 50:869-873.
- Scholl, J.P., R.G. Kelsey, and F. Shafizadeh. 1977. Involvement of volatile compounds of *Artemisia* in browse preference by mule deer. Biochem. Syst. Ecol. 5:291-295.
- Shantz, H.L. 1925. Plant communities in Utah and Nevada. U.S. Nat'l. Mus. Contrib. U.S. Nat. Herbarium 25:15-23.
- Shantz, H.L., and R.L. Piemeisel. 1940. Types of vegetation in Escalante Valley, Utah, as indicators of soil conditions. USDA Tech. Bull. 713. 46 pp.
- Shantz, H.L., and R. Zon. 1924. Atlas of American agriculture. Part 1. The physical basis of agriculture. Sec. E. Natural vegetation. USDA, Bur. Agr. Econ., Washington, D.C.
- Sheehy, D.P. 1975. Relative palatability of seven Artemisia taxa to mule deer and sheep. MS thesis. Oregon State Univ., Corvallis. 147 pp.
- Shepherd, H.R. 1971. Effects of clipping on key browse species in southwestern Colorado. Colo. Div. Game, Fish and Parks, Denver Tech. Pub. 28. 104 pp.

- Shiflet, T.N. 1973. Range sites and soils in the United States. Proc. Third U.S. - Aust. Rangelands Panel. 1973:26-33.
- Smith, A.D. 1950. Sagebrush as winter feed for deer. J. Wildl. Manage. 14:285-289.
- Smith, A.D., and R.L. Hubbard. 1954. Preference ratings for winter deer forages from northern Utah ranges based on browsing time and forage consumed. J. Range Manage. 7:262-265.
- Smith, D.W. 1969. A preliminary classification and characterization of big sagebrush, Artemisia tridentata Nutt., communities in central Montana. MS thesis, Montana State Univ. 68 pp.
- Sneva, F.A. 1972. Grazing return following sagebrush control in eastern Oregon. J. Range Manage. 25:174-178.
- Stanton, F. 1974. Wildlife guidelines for range fire rehabilitation. W.S.O.I. USDI Bur. Land Manage. Tech. Note 6702. 18 pp.
- Stebbins, G.L. 1971. Evolution and diversity of arid-land shrubs. Pages 111-120 in Proc. Symposium on wildland shrubs. Utah State Univ., Logan.
- Stevens, R., and E.D. McArthur. 1974. A simple field technique for identification of some sagebrush taxa. J. Range Manage. 27: 325.
- Stevens, R., A.P. Plummer, C.E. Jensen, and B.C. Guinta. 1974. Site productivity classification for selected species on winter big game ranges of Utah. USDA Forest Serv. Res. Pap. INT-158. Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta., Ogden, Utah.
- Stewart, G., and A.C. Hull. 1949. Cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum L.) an ecologic intruder in southern Idaho. Ecology 30:58-74.
- Stoddart, L.A. 1941. The Palouse grassland association in northern Utah. Ecology 22:158-163.
 - —. 1946. Some physical and chemical responses of Agropyron spicatum to herbage removal at various seasons. Utah State Agr. College Agr. Exp. Sta. Bull. 324. 24 pp.
- Stoddart, L.A., and A.D. Smith. 1955. Range management. 2nd Ed. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York. 433 pp.
- Stoddart, L.A., A.D. Smith, and T.W. Box. 1975. Range Management. 3rd Ed. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York. 532 pp.
- Sturges, D.L. 1977. Soil water withdrawal and root characteristics of big sagebrush. Amer. Midl. Natur. 98:257-274.
- Sturges, D.L., and M.J. Trlica. 1978. Root weights and carbohydrate reserves of big sagebrush. Ecology 59:1282-1285.
- Summerfield, H.B. 1969. Pedalogical factors related to the occurrence of big and low sagebrush in northern Washoe County, Nevada. MS thesis, Univ. of Nevada, Reno.
- Tabler, R.D. 1964. The root system of Artemisia tridentata at 9,500 feet in Wyoming. Ecology 45:633-636.
- Taylor, E. 1972. Food habits and feeding behaviour of pronghorn antelope in the Red Desert of Wyoming. Pages 211-221 in Proc. 3rd Biennial Pronghorn Antelope Workshop. Billings, Mont.
- Thatcher, A.P. 1959. Distribution of sagebrush as related to site differences in Albany County, Wyoming. J. Range Manage. 12:55-61.

- Thilenius, J.F., and G.R. Brown. 1974. Long-term effects of chemical control of big sagebrush. J. Range Manage. 27:223-224.
- Thompson, R.M. 1970. Experimental top pruning of curlleaf mahogany trees. USDA Forest Serv. Intermtn. Reg. Ogden, Utah. Range Improve. Notes 15:1-11.
- Tisdale, E.W. 1947. The grasslands of the southern interior of British Columbia. Ecology 28:346-383.
 - 1959. Intraspecific variation in *Festuca* I. Carnegie Inst. of Washington Year Book. 58:356-358.
 - —. 1961. Intraspecific variation in *Festuca* II. Carnegie Inst. of Washington Year Book. 60:388-391.
- Tisdale, E.W., M. Hironaka, and M.A. Fosberg. 1965. An area of pristine vegetation in Craters of the Moon Monument, Idaho. Ecology 46:349-352.
 - . 1969. The sagebrush region in Idaho. A problem in range resource management. Agr. Exp. Sta. Bull. 512. Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 15 pp.
- Townsend, J.K. 1834. Narrative of a journey across the Rocky Mountains to the Columbia Basin. In: R.G. Thwaites (ed.). 1905. Early Western Travels. Vol. XXI-Wyeth, Townsend. Arthur H. Clark Co.
- Trlica, M.J., Jr., and C.W. Cook. 1971. Defoliation effects on carbohydrate reserves of desert species. J. Range Manage. 24:418-425.
- Trlica, M.J., M. Buwai, and J.A. Menke. 1977. Effects of rests following defoliations on the recovery of several range species. J. Range Manage. 30:21-27.
- Tueller, P.T. 1962. Plant succession on two Artemisia habitat types in southeastern Oregon. Ph.D. diss. Oregon State Univ. Corvallis.
- Tueller, P.T., and W.H. Blackburn. 1974. Condition and trend of the big sagebrush needle-and-thread habitat type in Nevada. J. Range Manage. 27:36-40.
- Tueller, P.T., and R.A. Evans. 1969. Control of green rabbitbrush and big sagebrush with 2,4-D and picloram. Weed Sci. 17: 233-235.
- Turesson, G. 1922. The species and the variety as ecological units. Heriditas 3:100-113.
- Uresk, D.W., and W.H. Rickard. 1976. Diets of steers on a shrubsteppe rangeland in south central Washington. J. Range Manage. 29:464-466.
- Uresk, D.W., J.F. Cline, and W.H. Rickard. 1976, Impact of wildfire on 3 perennial grasses in southcentral Washington. J. Range Manage. 29:309-310.
- Uresk, D.W., W.H. Rickard, and J.F. Cline. 1980. Perennial grasses and their response to a wildfire in south-central Washington. J. Range Manage. 33:111-114.
- USDA Forest Service. 1936. The western range. U.S. Senate Document 199. 620 pp.

- —. 1937. Range plant handbook. U.S. Govt. Print. Office. Washington, D.C. 838 pp.
- —. 1969. Range environmental analysis handbook. Intermtn. Reg., Forest Serv. Handbook R-4. Ogden, Utah.
- USDI Bureau of Land Management. 1979. BLM manual. Washington, D.C.
- Vale, T.R. 1975a. Presettlement vegetation in the sagebrush-grass area of the Intermountain west. J. Range Manage. 28:32-36.
 - 1975b. Invasion of big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata) by white fir (Abies concolor) on the southeastern slopes of the Warner Mountains, California. Gt. Basin Naturalist 35:319-324.
- Wangberg, J.K. 1976. Biology of the tephritid gall formers (*Diptera*: Tephritidae) on rabbitbrush, *Chrysothamnus* spp., in Idaho. Ph.D. diss. Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 240 pp.
- Ward, G.H. 1953. Artemisia, Section Seriphidium in North America -a cytotaxonomic study. Contrib. from Dudley Herbarium. 4:155-205. Stanford Univ., Palo Alto, Calif.
- Watson, S. 1871. Botany of the 40th Parallel. Page XXV in United States geological exploration of the Fortieth Parallel. U.S. Govt. Print. Off.
- Weaver, J.E., and F.E. Clements. 1938. Plant ecology. 2nd Ed. McGraw-Hill Book Co. New York. 601 pp.
- Weaver, T.W., and D. Klarich. 1977. Allelopathic effects of volatile substances from Artemisia tridentata Nutt. Amer. Midl. Natur. 97:508-512.
- Welch, B.L., and E.D. McArthur. 1979. Feasibility of improving big sagebrush for use on mule deer winter ranges. Pages 451-473 in Proceedings Arid Land Plant Resources. J.R. Goodin and D.K. Northington (eds.). Texas Tech. Univ., Lubbock.
- West, M., and H.A. Mooney. 1972. Photosynthetic characteristics of three species of sagebrush as related to their distribution patterns in the White Mountains of California. Amer. Midl. Natur. 88:479-484.
- West, N.E. 1979. Basic synecological relationships of shrubdominated lands in the Great Basin and the Colorado Plateau. Pages 33-41 in The sagebrush ecosystem: a symposium. Utah State Univ., Logan.
- West, N.E., R.J. Tausch, K.H. Rhea, and P.T. Tueller. 1978. Taxonomic determination, distribution, and ecological indicator values of sagebrush within the pinyon-juniper woodlands of the Great Basin. J. Range Manage. 31:87-92.
- White, W.N. 1932. A method of estimating ground-water supplies based on discharge by plants and evaporation from soil. USDI Geol. Surv., Water Supply Pap. 659-A.
- Willms, W., A. McLean, R. Tucker, and R. Ritcey. 1979. Interactions between mule deer and cattle on big sagebrush range in British Columbia. J. Range Manage. 32:299-304.
- Wilson, A.M., G.A. Harris, and D.H. Gates. 1966. Cumulative effects of clipping on yield of bluebunch wheatgrass. J. Range Manage. 19:90-91.
- Wilson, F.D. 1963. Revision of Sitanion (Triticea, Gramineae). Brittania 15:303-323.

- Winward, A.H. 1970. Taxonomy and ecology of big sagebrush. Ph.D. diss., Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 80 pp.
 - . 1976. Evolutionary development of the Artemisia tridentata taxa. Abstr. Proc. Wildland Shrub Symposium, USDA Forest Serv. Shrub Sciences Lab., Provo, Utah. Nov. 1976.
- Agr. Exp. Sta. Bull. 642. Oregon State Univ., Corvallis.
 - Winward, A.H., and E.W. Tisdale. 1969. A simplified chemical method for sagebrush identification. Forest, Wildl. and Range Exp. Sta. Note No. 11. Univ. of Idaho, Moscow. 2 pp.
 - . 1977. Taxonomy of the Artemisia tridentata complex in Idaho. Forest, Wildl. and Range Exp. Sta. Bull. 19. Univ. of Idaho. Moscow. 15 pp.
 - Wislizenus, F.A. 1912. A journey to the Rocky Mountains in the year 1839. Missouri Historical Soc., St. Louis, Mo. 162 pp.
 - Wright, H.A. 1967. Contrasting responses of squirreltail and needle and thread to herbage removal. J. Range Manage. 20:398400.
 - . 1970. Response of big sagebrush and three-tip sagebrush to season of clipping. J. Range Manage. 23:20-22.
 - . 1971. Why squirreltail is more tolerant to burning than needle and thread. J. Range Manage. 24:277-284.
 - Wright, H.A., and J.O. Klemmedson. 1965. Effects of fire on bunchgrasses of the sagebrush-grass region in southern Idaho. Ecology 46:680-688.
 - Wright, H.A., L.F. Neuenschwander, and C.M. Britton. 1979. The role and use of fire in sagebrush-grass and pinyon-juniper plant communities. USDA Forest Serv. Tech. Rep. INT-58. Intermtn. Forest and Range Exp. Sta. Ogden, Utah. 48 pp.

- Yake, S., and J.D. Brotherton. 1979. Differentiation of serviceberry habitats in the Wasatch Mountains of Utah. J. Range Manage. 32:379-383.
- Young, J.A., and R.A. Evans. 1970. Invasion of medusahead into the Great Basin. Weed Sci. 18:89-97.
- 1973. Downy brome intruder in the plant succession of big sagebrush communities in the Great Basin. J. Range Manage. 26:410-415.
 - . 1974. Population dynamics of green rabbitbrush in disturbed big sagebrush communities. J. Range Manage. 27:127-132.
 - ——. 1977. Squirreltail seed germination. J. Range Manage. 30:33-36.
 - Young, J.A., R.E. Eckert, Jr., and R.A. Evans. 1979. Historical perspectives regarding the sagebrush ecosystem. Pages 1-13 in The sagebrush ecosystem-a symposium. Utah State Univ., Logan.
 - Young, J.A., R.A. Evans, and J. Major. 1972. Alien plants in the Great Basin. J. Range Manage. 25:194-201.
 - ——. 1977. Sagebrush steppe. Pages 763-796 in M.G. Barbour and J. Major (eds.). Terrestrial vegetation of California. John Wiley and Sons, New York. 1002 pp.
 - Young, J.A., R.A. Evans, and R.A. Weaver. 1976. Estimating potential downy brome competition after wildfires. J. Range Manage. 29:322-325.
 - Young, V.A., and G.F. Payne. 1948. Utilization of key browse species in relation to proper grazing practices in cutover western white pine lands in northern Idaho. J. Forest. 46:35-40.
 - Zamora, B., and P.T. Tueller. 1973. Artemisia arbuscula, A. longiloba and A. nova habitat types in northern Nevada. Great Basin Natur. 33:225-241.



UNIVERSITY OF IDAHO LIBRARY

1

